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I am pleased to present the annual report and financial statements for Oracle Power plc (“Oracle” or the 
“Company”) for the year ended 31 December 2024.  
 
It has been a busy year for the Company with progress on multiple fronts and the acquisition of an exciting new 
copper and silver project in Western Australia.   
 
The Blue Rock Valley Copper and Silver Project is located in the Ashburton Basin in the northwest region of 
Western Australia and was acquired in April 2024.  Assays from historical drilling and significant historical rock 
chip samples suggest the presence of high-grade copper and silver mineralisation as well as the potential for 
uranium.  Since the acquisition we already have completed ground based gravity surveys and APEX Geoscience 
have been appointed to further advance exploration on the project, with potential drill targets identified during the 
course of 2025. 
 
Elsewhere in Australia, our Northern Zone Gold Project (“Northern Zone”) has continued to advance under the 
management of local partner, ASX listed Riversgold Limited (“Riversgold”), with further excellent drill results 
announced during the course of 2024 and, in December, we submitted our mining lease application to the 
Department of Energy, Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety in Western Australia.  The mining lease application 
can take more than 12 months and during this time we will continue with on-going drilling to further develop this 
project before proceeding to a maiden Mineral Resource Estimate (“MRE”).   
 
Subsequent to the year end, Riversgold advised that it had completed the minimum required expenditure on the 
Northern Zone to exercise their 80% option. The joint venture (“JV”) is currently undergoing formalisation, with 
completion of JV documentation anticipated to be by 31 December 2025. Upon finalisation, Oracle will retain a 
20% beneficial interest in the project. 
 
In Pakistan, the Company continues to make progress on its domestic projects, albeit slowly, although a number 
of significant milestones have been achieved during the year for the Green Hydrogen Project. These milestones 
are outlined in detail in the Chief Executive’s Report, although the highlight was clearly the completion of the 
technical and commercial feasibility study undertaken by Thyssenkupp Uhde, which provided a very positive 
outlook for the project. 
 
Elsewhere in Pakistan, we continue to maintain a useful and active dialogue with the Power Division, Ministry of 
Energy, in connection with the proposed development of the Company’s planned 1,320MW coal to power project 
under the China Pakistan Economic Corridor (“CPEC”).  We also signed a significant Memorandum of 
Understanding for the off-take and planned development of this project, which is also outlined in detail in the 
Chief Executive’s Report. 
 
On the corporate front, we were pleased to welcome Ms Emma Priestley as a new Non-Executive Director to the 
Company in July 2024.  Ms Priestley is an experienced mining executive, who is also a graduate of the Camborne 
School of Mines and a Chartered Mining Engineer and Charter Mineral Surveyor.    
 
Other changes to the Board of Directors during the year included the resignation of Mr Mark Steed, and we once 
again thank Mr Steed for his past service and contribution to the Company’s development.  
 
During the year the Company raised a total of £866,667 via two share placements and the exercise of outstanding 
warrants and the Board would like to thank shareholders for their continued support with regard to these fund 
raisings.  These funds are being used to progress the Company’s various projects and for general working capital 
purposes. 
 
A more comprehensive overview of the Company’s operational highlights for 2024 is set out in the Chief 
Executive's Report. 
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We continue to be most grateful to the Pakistani authorities for their continued support and to the West Australian 
mining authorities for helping to facilitate exploration and development activities in their region. 
 
And finally, I would like to thank the Company’s directors, employees and consultants for all their hard work during 
the year and also thank the shareholders for their support and patience and we look forward to the year ahead 
with anticipation and excitement as we look to move all our projects further along the value chain. 
 
 
David Hutchins 
Non-Executive Chairman 
20 June 2025
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2024 has been a year of good progress in both Pakistan and Australia, as well as one in which our development 
strategy was implemented successfully.  
 
During the year, we completed a number of final assessments for the proposed development of the Company’s 
significant renewable power plant linked to the Green Hydrogen Project in Pakistan. Whilst we continued to de-
risk these projects, we also initiated the planned commercialisation of the standalone proposed renewable power 
plant by participating in a public bid to supply 220 MW of hybrid renewable power to the largest private distributor 
in Pakistan, K-Electric Limited (“KE”). We continue to engage with other buyers for the sale of renewable power 
and dialogue with off-takers for green hydrogen and green ammonia is also progressing well.  
 
In parallel, we also continued to engage with the Power Division, Ministry of Energy, in connection with the 
proposed development of the Company’s planned 1,320 MW, coal to power project in Thar, under CPEC. In 
2023, we signed an important Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) for the off-take and planned development 
of this 1,320MW Thar coal-fired power plant with a consortium of parties including the Government of Sindh, KE, 
and PowerChina International Group Limited (“Power China”). Since the 1,320 MW project is included within 
CPEC, we await the go ahead from the Chinese Government’s financing department, and our strategic partner, 
Power China, which maintains a regular dialogue with the relevant authorities. The power project is likely to 
require 7.6 million tonnes of Thar coal annually, which could be sourced from existing mines at Thar Block I and 
II or a new mine could be developed, if commercially viable. Furthermore, based on the introduction of the 
Competitive Trading Bilateral Contracts Market (“CTBCM”), all off-takers including Government and private 
buyers, such as KE, can bid to fulfil demand registered in the national demand account. Post period end, we also 
began discussions with potential buyers for our mine licence at Block VI. 
 
In Western Australia, the Company continued to develop its Northern Zone asset, through its farm-in agreement 
with Riversgold, an ASX-listed company focused on the development of gold and lithium projects. The exploratory 
activities, which included a significant amount of drilling, delivered very promising results, defining the resource 
as low grade but with a large mineralisation with high extraction characteristics. During the course of the year, 
the positive metallurgical results continued to justify a drill programme, as we continued to advance towards a 
MRE. The aircore (“AC”) drilling programme more than doubled the prospective gold system's footprint by tagging 
basement geology, expanding the mineralised porphyry. The Reverse Circulation (“RC”) drilling programme also 
confirmed high-grade gold intercepts, highlighting significant mineralisation at various depths. At the end of the 
period, a mining lease application was submitted. During the mining lease application period, the Company 
intends to continue drilling to advance the project before proceeding with a maiden MRE. Post period end, 
Riversgold crossed the expenditure threshold which triggered the JV and it exercised its option to acquire 80%. 
of the Northern Zone. This arrangement is expected to be formalised by the end of 2025. 

In June 2024, the Company acquired 100% of the Blue Rock Valley Copper and Silver Project. The project is 
located in the Ashburton Basin in the northwest region of Western Australia, approximately 102 km2 and is 
composed of one exploration licence. The project area is also highly prospective for gold and a number of uranium 
projects are also nearby and there is indication of potential sediment hosted uranium near hot granites in the 
Ashburton Basin. Assays from historical drilling and rock chip sampling suggested the presence of high-grade 
copper and silver mineralization as well as the potential for uranium.  

Geologists recovered high-grade copper samples during a site visit in July 2024. Assay results from rock chip 
and grabbed samples confirmed historical evidence of copper mineralisation, with grades ranging from 8.56% to 
25.70% copper. A ground gravity survey was completed in October 2024 over copper mineralisation and versatile 
time domain electromagnetic (“VTEM”) anomalies. In December 2024, APEX Geoscience, a geochemical 
consultant, was appointed to carry out exploration work and they started the geochemical sampling programme 
post period. Exploration is expected to continue over the course of 2025.  
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Substantial progress has been made to date in the Green Hydrogen Project which is being developed through a 
joint venture with Sheikh Ahmed Dalmook Al Maktoum (through his wholly owned subsidiary Kaheel Energy 
FZE).  The joint venture is split 70:30 in favour of Kaheel Energy FZEthereby significantly reducing Oracle’s 
funding requirement. Principal nvestments to date include the acquisition of the necessary land for the renewable 
power project and, the successful completion of necessary studies and assessments, which have de-risked the 
project both commercially and technically.  

 
In February 2024, we completed the comprehensive technical and commercial feasibility study for the proposed 
1.3 GW hybrid renewable power facility, which was completely funded by State Grid Corporation of China (“State 
Grid”). The Environmental & Social Impact Assessment (“ESIA”) for the renewable power plant was also 
completed and submitted to the Sindh Environmental Protection Agency (“SEPA”) for review. Within a month, a 
‘No Objection Certificate’ (“NOC”) was awarded. During this year, the technical and commercial feasibility for 
green hydrogen and ammonia, undertaken by Thyssenkrupp, was integrated with hybrid renewable study 
undertaken by State Grid. Also, post period end, the development MOU that had been signed with State Grid has 
been renewed until March 2027.  The integrated results generated favorable outcomes with projected double-
digit returns. A comprehensive evaluation has been obtained to support the viability of green hydrogen and 
ammonia. In November 2024, the transmission & grid interconnection study, also funded by State Grid, was 
completed and submitted for review by the Pakistan Government. This is expected to enable a detailed front-end 
engineering design (FEED) study in the next phase and it will also provide a solid foundation for securing potential 
power off-take agreements. 
 
 
In 2023, the Company demonstrated the benefits of its strategy of forming the right partnerships, when it signed 
the JV agreement with Riversgold for the Northern Zone. It is our objective to maximise returns and create 
shareholder value through forging relationships with partners who can inject finance and expertise for the 
advancement of our projects and, enhance returns on the Company’s portfolio. 
 
I remain grateful to all the relevant authorities in Pakistan and Western Australia for their support. I am also 
thankful to our teams in the UK, Pakistan and, Australia for their dedication and hard work. I am also appreciative 
of the continued confidence, patience and support of our shareholders, to enable us to deliver on our plans. The 
Company remains committed to increasing shareholder value and to growing into an enterprise of greater size 
and scale over the longer term. 
 
 
Ms Naheed Memon 
Chief Executive Officer 
 
20 June 2025 
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INTRODUCTION 
  
The Directors present their Strategic Report of the Company and the Group for the year ended 31 December 
2024. 
 
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY AND BUSINESS MODEL 
 
The principal activity of the Group during the year under review was that of a project development company.  The 
Company is currently involved with four projects: an energy project, based on the potential development of a coal 
resource and construction of a mine-mouth power plant in Pakistan; two exploration projects for gold and 
copper/silver in Western Australia (WA); and the potential development of a green hydrogen project in Pakistan.  
 
Our development work in Pakistan has primarily focused on acquiring land, commissioning various requisite 
studies and obtaining the necessary permissions from the government. Our work in WA has involved exploration 
of the tenements concerned and developing plans for further resource estimation.  Although our projects are 
generally held and operated through SPVs, the Group itself is controlled, financed and administered within the 
United Kingdom, which remains the principal place of business. The Group’s business model is to create value 
through the establishment of a balanced portfolio of potentially high return projects and advancing them through 
commercially attractive joint venture or similar partnering transactions to ultimate future production or sale.  
 
BUSINESS REVIEW 
  
During the year, the Group has used its budgeted funds to advance the Thar power project and green hydrogen 
project in Pakistan as well as its gold assets in Western Australia. Expenditures are either capitalised or 
expensed, in accordance with IFRS requirements. The capitalised expenditures are shown as intangible fixed 
assets in the Statement of Financial Position and the expensed expenditures are shown as administrative 
expenses in the Statement of Profit or Loss. The consolidated loss after taxation for the year to 31 December 
2024 amounted to £711,875 (2023: £789,795).  
 
The Chief Executive Officer in her Report, has summarised the activities of the Group during the financial year 
under review.  
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SECTION 172(1) STATEMENT 
 
The directors are well aware of their duty under Section 172(1) of the Companies Act 2006 to act in the way 
which they consider, in good faith, would be most likely to promote the success of the Company for the benefit 
of its members as a whole, and in doing so have regard (amongst other matters) to: 
• The likely consequences of any decision in the long term;  
• The interests of the Company’s employees;  
• The need to foster the Company’s business relationships with suppliers, customers and others;  
• The impact of the Company’s operations on the community and the environment;  
• The desirability of the Company maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct, and  
• The need to act fairly as between members of the Company (the “Section 172(1) Matters”). 
 
Induction materials provided on appointment include an explanation of directors’ duties, and the board is regularly 
reminded of Section.172(1) Matters, including as a rolling agenda item at every main board meeting. 
  
Further information on how the directors have had regard to the Section.172(1) Matters can be found on pages 
8 to 16. 
 
Section 172(1) Companies Act 2006 
The board takes decisions with the long term in mind, and collectively and individually aims to uphold the highest 
standards of conduct. Similarly, the Board understands that the Company can only prosper over the long term if 
it understands and respects the views and needs of its customers, distributors, employees, suppliers and the 
wider community in which it operates. 
 
A firm understanding of investor needs is also vital to the Company’s success along with a sustainable and 
environmentally responsible culture. This is detailed on page 15. The directors are fully aware of their 
responsibilities to promote the success of the Company in accordance with Section 172(1) of the Companies Act 
2006. The text of Section 172(1) of the Companies Act 2006 has been sent out to each main Board director. 
 
The Board ensures that the requirements are met, and the interests of stakeholders are considered as referred 
to elsewhere in this report and through a combination of the following: 
• A rolling agenda of matters to be considered by the Board throughout the year, which includes an annual 
 strategy review meeting, where the strategic plan for the following year is developed; 
• Standing agenda points and papers presented at each Board meeting, which report on  
 customers, employees and other colleagues, health and safety matters and investors; 
• A review of certain of these topics through the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee 
 agenda items referred to in this report; 
• Detailed consideration is given to any of these factors where they are relevant to any major decisions 
 taken by the Board during the year; 
• At this stage, the directors consider that there are no financial KPIs that are specifically relevant to 
 assessing the business. 
 
Key Board decisions taken during the year, all of which have long term implications for the ultimate success of 
the Company, and the Section 172(1) and stakeholder considerations are set out below: 
 
• Development of the Company’s northern zone gold project in Western Australia; 
• Further development of the Company’s coal and power projects in Pakistan; and 
• Progression of the Company’s green hydrogen project in Pakistan. 
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Relations with Shareholders  
The Company’s principal means of communication with shareholders is through its Annual Report and Financial 
Statements, the full-year and half-year results announcements and the AGM. The Board recognises that the 
AGM is an important opportunity to meet private shareholders. Each substantially separate issue is the subject 
of a separate resolution at the AGM and all shareholders have the opportunity to put questions to the Board. All 
Board directors endeavour to attend AGMs and answer questions put to them which may be relevant to their 
responsibilities. In addition, the directors are available to listen informally to the views of shareholders immediately 
following the AGM. For each vote, the number of proxy votes received for, against and withheld is announced at 
the meeting. The results of the AGM are published on the Company’s corporate website.  
 
The Board receives regular updates on the views of shareholders through briefings and reports from the executive 
directors, the Company’s brokers and PR advisers. The Chief Executive Officer makes presentations to 
institutional shareholders and participates in investor road shows both following the announcement of the full-year 
and half-year results and, at other times throughout the year as appropriate. Not every officer participates in every 
investor presentation.  
 
Dialogue with individual institutional shareholders also takes place to better understand their principles and 
investment objectives where practicable.  
 
Investor queries may be addressed to the Company Secretary at info@oraclepower.co.uk. A range of corporate 
information (including all Company announcements) is also available to shareholders, investors and the public 
on the Company’s corporate website at www.oraclepower.co.uk. 
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 
  
The Group is engaged in the development of four key projects as follows: 

• a coal resource in Block VI and associated power project in the Thar Desert in the Sindh province in 
Pakistan, seeking to establish a power plant and coal to gas facility;  

• a gold exploration asset in Western Australia; 

• a copper/silver exploration asset in Western Australia;  

• and a wind power and green hydrogen production facility in Pakistan.   
 
The principal strategic and operational risks and uncertainties facing the Group are described below, together 
with the steps taken for their mitigation. Information on financial risk management is set out in the Financial 
Instruments section in this report. 
 
The principal risks and uncertainties for the Company's projects are: 
 

 
Issue 

 
Likelihood of Issue Arising 

 
Impact if issue Arises 

   
Financing Medium/High High 
Project Completion Medium/High Medium 
Operating Low Low/Medium 
Economic Low/Medium Low 
Political, Legal and Regulatory Medium Medium 
Environment & Corporate Social Responsibility Low Medium 

 
Following the acquisition of the gold project in Western Australia, the Company established resource estimates 
via exploratory work on both the tenements acquired. In Pakistan, the Company has continued its efforts to 
develop its coal to power plant given it has secured interest via memorandums of understanding with potential 
offtake and equity partners including the Government of Sindh. The Company awaits appropriate policy support 
to be announced, in order to proceed with the development of a coal to gas (“CTG”) facility in conjunction with 
the planned power plant at Block VI. There are some risks related to obtaining viable tariffs for power and gas in 
order to maximise returns. Economic risk, however, including cost increases, is protected, through the 
Government of Pakistan’s cost plus pricing mechanism.  
 
The Company has increased the potential of its Thar asset by seeking to develop an alternative solar facility on 
the land at Block VI Thar where it holds a lease. It has already conducted a preliminary study, obtained provisional 
consent and secured a collaborative relationship with a large power company.  
 
The Company has made significant progress on its green hydrogen project and continues to work on studies and 
market access. The project faces risks in getting to production, price risk in relation to off take and cost of 
production risk on account of supply and transport uncertainty. The Company has engaged experts for technology 
and commercial support in order to further mitigate risks.  
 
There remains political risk, on account of political uncertainty in Pakistan which may discourage investment. In 
contrast, Western Australia presents very limited political risk compared to Pakistan with exploration and 
commercial risk being the primary concern for the potential development of our projects in this jurisdiction. 
 
The principal risks are detailed below, along with the key measures taken for their mitigation.  
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Financial Close Risk  

Risk Mitigation 

In relation to the coal to power project, given that the 
demand for coal to power has been established by the 
government and a non-binding offtake MOU is in 
place, the principal risk relates to securing suitable 
debt from banks and Chinese Sinosure (China’s 
export financing plan). This process can be delayed, 
and banks and Chinese lenders may only lend against 
export components.  
 
In relation to the Green Hydrogen Project (“GH 
Project), there may be significant delays in financial 
close on account of the fact that commercial terms 
and a marketplace for this commodity is still under 
development. Financiers should show interest when 
contracts are clearer and long-term prices are 
established. 

The Company is assessing the most viable 
development model and is working closely with the 
CPEC planning bodies in Pakistan and China. If the 
Company receives positive support for financing 
through CPEC, it can then proceed to enter into a 
binding shareholders or JV agreement with the parties 
who have signed a MOU for offtake and development.  
 
Arbitrary withdrawal is considered by Oracle unlikely, 
given the high-profile commitments made by China to 
CPEC.  
 
With respect to the GH Project, we have initiated 
engagement with offtakers for long term contracts and 
are also in conversations with multinationals for 
potential financing in order to achieve financial close 
in a timely fashion. 
 

Project Completion Risk  

Risk Mitigation 

The Block VI development plan in the first phase 
comprises a power plant to be followed by potential 
Coal to Gas/Liquid facilities in the future.  Delay in 
development could arise due to the lack of timely 
provision of infrastructure by the government.  
 
Secondly, the proposed power plant may fail tests 
resulting in encashment of performance guarantees.  
In relation to our WA gold and copper/silver 
exploration projects, there are risks associated with 
drilling, topography conditions and weather 
conditions.   
 
In relation to the GH Project there could be delays in 
permitting, supply of electrolysers and delays in 
setting up required storage and transport 
infrastructure. 
 

The Company seeks to engage well qualified 
engineers and contractors for all of its projects.  
 
In the case of the proposed coal power plant, 
neighbouring blocks have constructed and 
commissioned power.  
 
The Company is in close contact with the relevant 
Government authorities in relation to all infrastructure 
requirements and continues to secure timely 
permissions for provision. 
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Operating Risk  

Risk Mitigation 

Technical issues, similar to those described under 
Project Completion Risk. 
 
The availability of water, transmission infrastructure, 
storage and transport are some issues which will be 
faced by the project at Thar as well as the GH Project. 
Although the production of hydrogen once the plant 
has been constructed and tested is relatively low risk, 
the storage and transportation of green ammonia can 
present risks associated with new technology. 
 
 

As with Project Completion Risk, the intention is for 
projects to be constructed by leading contractors. The 
Company will take out a typical suite of insurance 
policies and to the extent that operational issues give 
rise to cost increases, these should also be 
recoverable through pricing mechanisms. 
 
The Company is in the process of securing all 
requisite infrastructure provision commitments from 
the Pakistan Government before commencement of 
the project. 
 
The Company has engaged one of the best 
engineering companies in the world for green 
hydrogen and will also engage leading technology 
suppliers for storage and transportation of green 
hydrogen. 
 

Economic Risk  

Risk Mitigation 

The economic performance of the Company could be 
affected by movements in international markets. 
Exchange rate volatility and interest rate increases will 
impact on costs during the development and 
construction phase. Volatility in international energy 
prices will introduce uncertainty in long term prices 
and offtake contracts. Changes in the price of gold 
and US inflation may also raise lead to increases in 
projected capital and operating costs. 
 
The price of renewable energy power components 
such as turbines and photovoltaic panels can remain 
high on account of shortages. Furthermore, high 
transportation costs will likely impact on the selling 
price of hydrogen for the end user. 
 
 

Cost variances resulting from adverse exchange rate 
movements and US inflation should generally be 
recoverable through pricing mechanisms. The risks 
posed by further importation of coal or oil for power 
generation is not considered to be high given the large 
price differentials and the present lack of power plants 
and general scarcity of energy supply in Pakistan. The 
savings in foreign exchange to the country of import 
substitution through local energy production are clear, 
and the development of power plants based on 
indigenous coal or use of renewable power for the 
production of hydrogen as a fuel in Pakistan increases 
the country’s security of energy supply and its balance 
of payments through increases in exports and 
reduction in imports. 
 
Furthermore, the Company will engage contractors 
which have scale and cost advantages to mitigate 
global shortages and transport costs. 
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Financing Risk  

Risk Mitigation 

The JV company set up for the GH Project with HH 
Sheikh Ahmed Dalmook Al Maktoum’s Private Office 
has secured a well-financed partner, and the 
subsequent MOU with one of the world’s  largest 
power generating companies, State Grid, means that 
the probability of achieving financial close is ultimately 
good, however there are risks of delay based on the 
time it will take to secure appropriate offtake contracts 
to de-risk the project. Similarly, the farm-in agreement 
to develop the Northern Zone gold project in WA, with 
another listed entity, has introduced funding for further 
exploration but the Company will need to invest 
additional sums if it is to maintain its share in the likely 
JV going forwards. 
 

The ability to secure financing for the coal to power 
project depends on the level of support given by the 
Chinese government as coal to power financing is not 
as readily available. The Company will need to 
coordinate efforts with the planning ministries in China 
and in Pakistan to mobilise debt. 
 

For the GH Project, partners and joint developers help 
diversify exposure and the agreements signed divide 
responsibility for the raising of equity and debt as and 
when necessary. In the case of the coal to power 
plant, the MOU includes the Government of Sindh as 
a counterparty, which increases the possibility of 
Chinese support for debt. 
 
The Company plans to ultimately secure first tier 
lenders to attract finance from the capital markets. 

Political, Legal, Regulatory and Fiscal Risks  

Risk Mitigation 

The Pakistan Government has demonstrated strong 
support for the proposed coal to power plant 
development. Risks could arise from a reduction in 
domestic support and inability to provide the required 
infrastructure. In the longer term, adverse changes in 
the fiscal regime, lease terms, tax rates, availability of 
foreign exchange to meet debt servicing requirements 
and dividends, would affect both the coal to power 
plant as well as the GH Project.  
 
Overall security conditions present a risk particularly 
as operations by Chinese companies can be targeted 
if the political conditions worsen. 
 

The Government has previously expressed its 
continued support for the development of indigenous 
coal and Thar. The Company believes that the 
shortage of base load power is likely to remain a key 
issue for the coalition government formed following 
the general election in Q1 2024 and that continued 
support will therefore be forthcoming. 
 
In relation to the GH Project, there is already strong 
ongoing conversations, and the Government is 
working on a national hydrogen strategy to support 
the development of green hydrogen production 
facilities. Pakistan has bilateral Investment Treaties 
with China and the UK in place, and there is protection 
in most eventualities.  
 
The Company will also consider whether political risk 
insurance could be a cost effective mitigant. Finally, 
Oracle has a strong working relationship with all 
relevant levels of Government and will use such 
relationships to address any domestic impediments. 
The Government has set up a special force with 
overall responsibility for security in Thar and the 
location of the wind corridor where the GH Project is 
situated. Oracle will be putting in place a 
comprehensive security plan which complements 
those of the Government agencies at all project sites. 
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Environment and CSR  

Risk Mitigation 

Energy and natural resource projects of this nature 
can have a major impact on the environment and 
impose significant corporate social responsibility. If 
environmental risks are not properly addressed and 
corporate social responsibility mismanaged either 
eventuality can give rise to severe reputational 
damage and significant cost exposure. 

Oracle operates to international standards of 
environmental and social impact management and 
complies with the Pakistan Environmental Protection 
legislation, which mirrors international standards. 
 
However, by way of its GH Project, the Company 
plans to offset the possible negative impact that its 
coal to power project would have on its local 
environment.  
 
At the same time, all exploration activities in WA have 
been and will be performed only after due clearance 
from the Department of Mines, Industry Regulation 
and Safety, is obtained and strict measures are in 
place to safeguard the environment, employees and 
contractors. 
 
The Environmental and Social Impact Assessment for 
the proposed mine has been approved by the Sindh 
Environmental Protection Agency and a No Objection 
Certificate (“NOC”) was issued in May 2013. For the 
power plant, the public hearing was held in August 
2017 and the NOC is awaited. 
 
Further, in relation to the GH Project, the Company is 
already in conversations with certifiers to obtain a 
green certificate upon commencement of project 
construction. From the outset, Oracle has understood 
the need to act as an exemplary corporate citizen. 
Oracle has a long-established Community Liaison 
Officer and will continue to foster good relationships 
with local communities. The Company will work to 
ensure that it collaborates with other developers of 
Thar Coal, for example Sindh Engro in Block II by way 
of joining the Thar Foundation, set up to coordinate 
welfare initiatives. 
 
The Company has also made commitments to the 
Government of Sindh to ensure that local 
communities settled in the wind corridor area, where 
the GH Project is to be situated, are provided with 
livelihoods and appropriate housing. 
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CSR) 
 
Oracle is a responsible corporate entity and is continuing to apply international best practice to all of its projects. 
The Company is aware of the key role it has to play in developing its pioneering projects in Pakistan, in minimising 
the impact that its operations may have on the natural and social environment and in creating opportunities for 
the local community. In Western Australia, it also remains fully compliant with regard to all requisite environmental 
and social protocols.  
 

Environmental and Social Impact Assessment (“ESIA”) 
In relation to the Thar project, Oracle commissioned Wardell Armstrong International Ltd. (“WAI”) to produce an 
ESIA for the Block VI project. WAI worked with Hagler Bailly Pakistan, a local group of environmental consultants, 
based in Islamabad, to complete the ESIA to meet both national and international standards. The ESIA was 
completed and submitted in April 2013 to the Sindh Environmental Protection Agency, Government of Sindh 
(“SEPA”). A public hearing was held on site in June 2013, attended by the local people along with government 
representatives, SEPA, various non-governmental organisations (“NGO”) and the Company's consultants as part 
of the public consultation process. There was overall support for the project and the Company will continue its 
consultation with the local people as the project moves into the implementation phase. 
 

Early in July 2013, SEPA held a Technical Committee Hearing in Karachi to examine the technical aspects of the 
ESIA and to take on board concerns raised at the public hearing which was attended by the Company and its 
consultants along with Government representatives.  
 

Following these meetings SEPA issued the “No Objection” Certificate giving formal approval for the ESIA in 
January 2014 which was another significant step towards potential future mine development. 
 

In 2016, Mott MacDonald were commissioned to prepare an ESIA for a 660MW mine mouth power plant which 
was completed in March 2017 and submitted to SEPA for approval. A public hearing was held on the site in July 
2017 and was attended by the local communities and other stakeholders and was well received. Also, in March 
2017, the above mentioned mine ESIA was updated and brought up to international standards by WAI and 
aligned with the power plant ESIA.  
 
In relation to the GH Project in the wind corridor in Sindh, Pakistan, we are in conversations with TUV Rheinland, 
which will issue a green certificate for our plans, before the construction commences.  
 
In Australia, before the commencement of any exploration activity, the requisite clearances are secured from the 
Department of Mines, Industrial Safety and Regulation, Government of Western Australia.  
 
Community and Consultation 
At Thar, in addition to the environmental characterisation of the site, a comprehensive social data gathering 
campaign has been completed. Background information on local demography, village structure, local culture, 
resources and socio-economics has been collected. In addition, an ongoing public consultation has been 
undertaken to gather the views and opinions of local stakeholders (both at a local and national level), and to 
disseminate information about the project. A similar exercise is intended at the green hydrogen project site, post 
allotment of land. In Western Australia, the Company pays fees towards the protection of the communities, in 
accordance with government programmes and policy.  
 
Resettlement 
The community response in relation to the Thar project, has generally been positive, recognising the associated 
community benefits that it will deliver. As a result of the location of the lignite seams, and the requirement for 
associated infrastructure, some relocation of local communities currently residing within Block VI will be required. 
The Resettlement Policy Framework of May 2015 sets out the formal mechanism for resettlement in Thar and is 
generally in line with international performance standards.  Such a Resettlement Framework and Resettlement 
Action Plan (“RAP”) was prepared and has been submitted to SEPA in April 2014 as required under the ESIA 
approval and has been recorded for action.   
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At the GH Project site, a similar resettlement plan will be undertaken in due course in accordance with Pakistan’s 
Renewable Power Policy. In Western Australia, the laws governing aboriginal settlement and protection are 
enforced, and the Company is fully compliant.  
 
The next stage of the process at both the project sites in Pakistan will be to carry out detailed surveys to identify 
landowners in the case of Thar, and settled communities on both sites, taking into account families, livestock, 
and agricultural assets prior to commencement of future construction. It is intended to construct replacement 
villages, with full electricity, sanitation, and potable water supply together with culturally appropriate places of 
worship, with opportunities for a local market area. The exact design of resettlement villages will be decided in 
consultation with the affected communities. Oracle has carried out a census at Thar and already undertaken 
done surveys in conjunction with local authorities at the green hydrogen site, and is therefore well prepared for 
this work stream. 
 
Oracle’s Social Development Initiatives 
As part of Oracle’s CSR initiatives, a strategy is being developed to identify, and support community development 
projects. A similar initiative will be undertaken for the GH Project and full support will be offered to the local 
communities in the affected area. 
 
Benefits and Opportunities 
Oracle is working with local groups to ensure that the Block VI project delivers sustainable benefits to its 
communities, and an overall improvement in local living conditions, whilst also positively responding to the energy 
crisis in Pakistan. This project shall give rise to both direct and indirect benefits for local communities.  Direct 
benefits will include employment at the future mine and power plant, whilst indirect benefits may include revenues 
generated by the local supply of goods and services to the operations. 
 
In WA, we have already generated both direct and indirect jobs, and as we continue to develop our two projects, 
we anticipate greater contributions being made to the national output.  
 
Benefits and opportunities include: 
 

- Improvements to and extension of the existing Government primary schools on all sites; 
  

- Training of literate male and female community members for teaching; 
  

- Extension of the existing school buildings to support more students; 
  

- Supply of stationery and other provisions; 
  

- Bi-annual hygiene and healthcare awareness campaign in all communities; 
  

- Setting up of water filter systems in all communities; 
  

- Awareness campaign on methods to improve livestock health and productivity in all communities; and 
  

- Construction of a road to connect local villages and communities to highways and other amenities.  
 
 
This report was approved by the board on 20 June 2025 and signed on its behalf by 
 

 

 

 
Naheed Memon 
Chief Executive Officer 
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The directors present their report and the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024. 
 
RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS 
 
The loss for the year, after taxation, amounted to £711,875 (2023 - loss £789,795). 
 
No dividends will be distributed for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: None). 
 
DIRECTORS 
 
The directors who served during the year were: 
 
Mark Wickham Steed, Non-Executive Chairman (resigned 7 August 2024)  
Naheed Memon, Chief Executive Officer  
David James Hutchins, Independent Non-Executive Director (subsequently became Non-Executive Chairman) 
Emma Priestley, Independent Non-Executive Director 
 
 
The beneficial interests of the Directors, who held office during the year, in the Ordinary Shares of the Company 
on 31 December 2024 were as follows: 
 
 
 

  
31 December 2024
  

1 January 2024
  

Mr M Steed  24,935,520   24,935,520  

Ms N Memon   114,295,788   114,295,788  

Mr D Hutchins   1,071,056   1,071,056  

Ms E Priestley   N/A   N/A  

   

 
The Directors held no share options during the year. 
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INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT 
 
Naheed Memon 
Chief Executive Officer 
 

Ms Memon’s career has spanned public service and the private sector.  Following a first degree in Computing 
Science at the University of Karachi, she completed an MSc in Economics, including a Distinction in 
Econometrics, at Birkbeck College, London and an MBA at Imperial College London. She has held various roles 
in her family conglomerate, the Kings Group of Industries, Pakistan, including Director of Marketing and Director 
of Information Systems. She was CEO of Advici Consulting Limited, a consulting practice based in London 
advising on marketing and investor facilitation. She has been a Financial Adviser at Merrill Lynch, Private 
Banking.  She was also formerly CEO of Manzil Pakistan, a public policy think tank based in Karachi. She has 
served the Sindh Board of Investment (Government of Sindh), as Vice Chair from 2013 - 2016, subsequently as 
Chair until August 2018. 
 
David Hutchins 
Non-Executive Chairman 
 

Mr Hutchins is a highly experienced corporate mining and commodities professional with more than 30 years in 
the industry.  During his career he has held several executive roles for both listed and private companies. Mr 
Hutchins is a member of the FTSE Gold Mines Index Committee and a past Chairman. 
 
Most notably, Mr Hutchins has held a range of senior roles within fund management, including various senior 
positions at M&G Group. In addition, he was a Fund Manager of Resources Investment Trust plc which was listed 
on the London Stock Exchange.  He was also a Director and Founder of www.minesite.com, a mining industry 
specific news website which is now part of Master Investor.  He currently sits on the Board of Wishbone Gold Plc 
(AIM: WSBN), a gold specialist company operating in exploration, mining and bullion trading, which, like Oracle, 
has gold exploration projects in Australia. 
 
Emma Priestley 
Independent Non-Executive Director 
 
Ms Priestley has an extensive background in mining and financial services, including roles with GVA Grimley, 
IMC Mackay & Schnellmann, and the World Bank. She served as a Mining Analyst at CSFB and later as a 
corporate broker and adviser with VSA Resources and Ambrian Partners. Emma was on the main board of 
Lonrho Plc, leading projects across Africa, and is currently the CEO of GoldStone Resources Ltd, a gold miner 
in Ghana. She is also a non-executive Director for CrossInvest Global Management Services Limited and 
Cloudbreak Discovery Plc. Ms Priestley is a graduate of Camborne School of Mines and a Chartered Mining 
Engineer and Chartered Mineral Surveyor. 
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
The Group’s financial instruments comprise cash and cash equivalents, investments and financial assets and 
various items such as trade receivables, trade payables, loans, accruals and prepayments that arise directly from 
its operations. 
 
The main purpose of these financial instruments is to finance the Group’s operations. The Board regularly reviews 
and agrees policies for managing the level of risk arising from the Group’s financial instruments which are 
summarised as follows: 
 
Liquidity Risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s 
policy throughout the year has been to ensure that it has adequate liquidity to meet its liabilities when due by 
careful management of its working capital. 
 
Credit Risk 
The Group's principal financial assets are its cash and cash equivalents and taxation receivable as recognised 
in the statement of financial position, and which represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation 
to financial assets. 
 
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss 
to the Group. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date to recognised financial assets is the 
carrying amount, net of any provisions for impairment of those assets, as disclosed in the statement of financial 
position and notes to the financial statements. The Group does not hold any collateral. Credit risk in relation to 
cash held with financial institutions is considered low, given the credit rating of these institutions. 
 
Capital Management 
The Company’s capital consists wholly of ordinary shares. The Board’s policy is to preserve a strong capital base 
in order to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to safeguard the future development of the 
business, whilst balancing these objectives with the efficient use of capital. 
 
Foreign exchange risk 
The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from currency exposures. 
The Group is exposed to currency risk on cash and cash equivalents, loans, receivables and payables that are 
denominated in currencies other than sterling which is the functional currency of the Group. 
 
Interest rate risk 
The Group has interest bearing accounts and has earned interest income of £1,772 (2023: £17,186) in the year. 
Given the level of interest income earned in the year, interest rate risk is not considered to be material to the 
Group. 
 
Market Risk 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as commodity prices, foreign exchange rates, interest 
rates and equity prices will affect the Group’s and Company’s income or value of its holdings in financial 
instruments. 
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GOING CONCERN 
 
During the year under review, the Group experienced net cash outflows from operating activities which it financed 
from existing cash resources held at the start of the year and cash received from the issue of new equity share 
capital. The Directors have considered the cash flow requirements of the Group over the next 12 months and 
believe that additional funding will be required to meet the Group’s cash requirements over that period. This 
additional cash requirement creates a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern.  However, the Directors expect to be able to meet the funding requirements 
to enable the Group to continue as a going concern for at least 12 months from the date of the approval of these 
financial statements, and consequently, the Directors consider it appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in 
the preparation of the financial statements.  
 

SIGNIFICANT SHAREHOLDINGS 
 

The Company has been notified of the following interests, directly or indirectly, in 3% or more of the Company’s 
ordinary shares as at 20 June 2025: 

   Shareholding   % of ISC  

Mining Equities Pty Limited 700,603,572                 5.81 

His Highness Sheikh Ahmed Bin Dalmook Al Maktoum 540,353,412                 4.48 

Mahfuz Chowdhury   319,486,800  2.65 

 

HEALTH AND SAFETY 
There were no reported personal injuries or fatalities amongst the Company's staff or contractors during the year 
(2023: none). 
 

SIGNIFICANT AGREEMENTS 
The Companies Act 2006 requires the Company to disclose any significant agreements which take effect, alter 
or terminate upon a change in control of the Company. The Company is not aware of, or party to, any such 
agreement. 
 

ENERGY AND CARBON REPORTING 
Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting is required by large companies where energy consumption exceeds 
40,000kWh. The Company can confirm that its consumption is less than 40,000kWh and therefore there is no 
requirement to provide details of the Company’s greenhouse gas emissions, energy consumption and energy 
efficiencies in both 2024 and 2023. 
 

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT 
Research and Development activities are set out in the Strategic Report. 
 

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS 
Post balance sheet events are set out in Note 24. 
 

ENGAGEMENT WITH SUPPLIERS, CUSTOMERS AND OTHERS IN A BUSINESS RELATIONHIP 
Details of the Company’s relationship with these key stakeholders are set out in the Section 172 statement in the 
Strategic Report. 
 

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD: 
 
 
 
Naheed Memon – Chief Executive Officer 
 
20 June 2025 
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REPORT ON REMUNERATION 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 
 
 

 
This report has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of Schedule 2 Part 1 of the Companies Act 
2006 (Schedule) and describes how the Board has applied the Principles of Good Governance relating to 
Directors Remuneration. In accordance with Section 439 of the Companies Act 2006 a resolution to approve the 
report will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting of the Company at which the Financial Statements are 
submitted for shareholder approval. 
 
During the year there were no changes to directors’ remuneration, or any decisions made in relation to directors’ 
remuneration.  The Director who started in the year was employed on the same terms as the Director who exited 
in the year. 
 
Remuneration Policy 
The Remuneration Committee is focused on ensuring that the Group’s policies and procedures are effective for 
the Group’s business and that executive remuneration packages are designed to attract, drive, motivate and 
retain executive directors and senior management of the requisite calibre and expertise, and to reward them 
appropriately for creating and enhancing long-term value for shareholders. The performance measurement of 
the Chief Executive Officer and key members of the senior management team, and the determination of their 
annual remuneration package is undertaken by the Remuneration Committee. 
 
The remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors is determined by the Board within limits set by the Articles of 
Association and in accordance with the general guidance principles adopted by the Quoted Companies Alliance 
for small and mid-size quoted Companies. 
 
Non-Executive Directors’ Terms of Engagement 
The Non-executive directors have specific terms of engagement. Their remuneration is determined by the Board. 
In the event that a Non-executive Director undertakes additional assignments for the Company, an appropriate 
fee will be agreed by the Board in respect of each assignment. 
 
Aggregate Directors’ Remuneration 
The remuneration paid to the Directors, in accordance with their service contracts, during the year ended 31 
December 2024 was as follows: 
 
 2024 

Salary 
and fees 

£ 

2024 
Pensions 

 
£ 

2024 
Total 

 
£ 

2023 
Salary and 

fees 
£ 

2023 
Pensions 

 
£ 

2023 
Total 

 
£ 

Executive       
N Memon 150,000 - 150,000 150,000 - 150,000 
Non-executive       
Mr M H Steed* 18,148 727 18,875 30,000 1,200 31,200 
Ms E Priestley 13,152 395 13,547 - - - 
Mr D Hutchins 30,000 900 30,900 30,000 900 30,900 
       

 211,300 2,022 213,322 210,000 2,100 212,100 

       
Payments to 
past directors: 

      

Mr M H Steed* 15,000 600 15,600 - - - 
       

 15,000 600 15,600 - - - 

       

 226,300 2,622 228,922 210,000 2,100 212,100 

 
*Resigned 7 August 2024  
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REPORT ON REMUNERATION (CONTINUED) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 

 
 
 
Directors' Service Contracts 
 
The Directors have contracts with a two-year term, renewable by mutual agreement and on an annual basis 
thereafter. Stated termination notice periods are as follows: 
 

  
Date of appointment Notice period  

Executive      

Ms N Memon  7 January 2019 12 months  

     

Non-Executive      

Mr D Hutchins  3 March 2021 3 months  

Ms E Priestley 24 July 2024 3 months 

 
Ms N Memon is a full-time director whilst the Non-Executive Directors are required to spend the time necessary 
to discharge their duties which will vary depending on the prevailing activities of the Company. 
 
 
Director Shareholdings and Share Interests 
Director Shareholdings and Share Interests are set out in the Directors’ Report. 
 
There are no requirements for Directors to hold shares in the Company.  Director share transactions have been 
in accordance with the Company Share Dealing Policy. 
 
Performance Evaluation 
The Board undertakes a periodic formal evaluation of its performance and of its committees involving individual 
Directors and Senior Managers, however, given the changes to the Board during the period, no review was 
deemed necessary during 2024. 
 
Executive Incentives 
The Remuneration Committee intends in due course to prepare, recommendations to the Board in respect of 
potential performance bonus schemes and long-term incentive packages for directors and managers. Such 
proposals will be formulated after consultation with professional remuneration advisers and major shareholders. 
 
Statement of Implementation of Remuneration Policy in the Following Financial Year 
The Remuneration Committee does not expect to implement any change in remuneration policy in the following 
financial year. 
 
Statement of Voting at General Meeting 
At the 2024 Annual General Meeting, the Remuneration Report was approved by 1,743,441,898 votes to 
38,472,737 against. 
 
This report was approved by the board on 20 June 2025 and signed on its behalf. 
  

 

 
Naheed Memon 
Chief Executive Officer 
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As CEO of Oracle Power plc, it is my responsibility to ensure that our company maintains sound corporate 
governance and an effective Board.  We are committed to upholding the highest standards of corporate 
governance, which we believe are essential for the long-term success and sustainability of our business. 
 
During 2024 the Board continued its commitment to maintaining high standards of corporate governance, 
complying with the requirements of the corporate governance guidelines (Guidelines) for smaller quoted 
companies issued by the Quoted Companies Alliance. The 10 principles set out in the Guidelines aim to assist 
small and growing companies in ensuring good governance practices and communicating such practices with 
shareholders and stakeholders. With the exception of Directors’ Remuneration (which is dealt with separately in 
the Remuneration Report), this statement sets out how the Board has applied such principles and the Company's 
compliance with the specific provisions of the Guidelines. 
 
A detailed corporate governance statement is set out on the Company’s website under the Corporate 
Governance Compliance Statement section of the AIM Rule 26 area of the website. 
 
Board and Board Committees 
 
The Board of Directors 
The Board of the Company is responsible for the Group’s system of corporate governance. At 31 December 
2024, the Board consisted of three Directors namely the Chief Executive Officer, Ms N Memon, the Non-executive 
Chairman, Mr D Hutchins and the Non-executive Director Ms E Priestley. Details of their careers are given in the 
Report of the Directors. 
 
The Board has considered the independence of Mr Hutchins and Ms Priestley and consider them to be fully 
independent. 
 
Details of Directors’ service contracts are provided in the Remuneration Report. None of the Board have any 
conflicts of interest arising from cross-directorships or day-to-day involvement in the running of the business. All 
Directors are subject to election by shareholders at the first Annual General Meeting following their appointment.  
All Directors are submitted for re-election after three years, subject to continued satisfactory performance. All 
Directors had access throughout the year to the advice and services of the Company Secretary Mr N Lee, who 
is responsible for ensuring that Board procedures and applicable regulations under the Company’s Articles of 
Association or otherwise are complied with. Each Director is entitled, if necessary, to seek independent 
professional advice at the Company's expense. 
 
Board Meetings  
The Board of Directors seek to meet approximately every three months, however, more regular discussions took 
place between directors during the period.  Furthermore, where necessary, relevant matters were approved by 
the Board electronically. There is a defined schedule of matters reserved for its decision. The matters so reserved 
include responsibility for the overall Group strategy, approval of contracts, commitments to capital expenditure 
over £10,000, appointment of Directors and staff, approval of Directors’ remuneration on the recommendation of 
the Remuneration Committee, issue of shares and warrants, appointment of advisers, approval of regulatory 
announcements to the market and a final investment decision to proceed with project implementation.  
 
Board Committees 
The Board Committees are comprised of Non-Executive Directors. They operate within defined terms of 
reference, details of which are published on the Company’s website, and they report regularly to the Board. At 
the Company’s current stage of development, the Board Committees are also charged with advising the boards 
and management of subsidiary companies. 
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The meetings held in 2024 were as follows: 

 
Number of 

Meetings in 
2024 

Members (and 
attendance during 

period of 
appointment)  

 

  

The Board  4 All  

Nomination Committee  0 n/a  

Remuneration Committee  0 n/a  

Audit Committee  2 All  

Tender Committee  1 All  

 
Nomination Committee 
The Nomination Committee was established post admission to AIM to review the structure, size and composition 
of the Board, including the skills, knowledge and experience required, and to make recommendations to the 
Board with regard to any changes. The Committee also identifies and screens candidates for recommendation 
to the Board for the Remuneration and Audit Committees. The Nomination Committee also formulates proposals 
for succession planning of the Board and management.  The Committee currently comprises Mr Hutchins as 
Chairman and Ms Priestley. The Committee did not meet in 2024. The Committee also monitors the application 
of Company policy on discrimination and encouraging diversity amongst the Company’s workforce. No issues 
were noted in 2024. 
 
Remuneration Committee  
The Committee consists of Mr Hutchins as Chairman and Ms Priestley.  The Committee did not meet in 2024. It 
is responsible for reviewing the remuneration, performance bonuses, incentive schemes and pension provision 
for Board members and executives of the Company and any new joiners.  It is policy that no individual participates 
in discussions or decisions concerning their own remuneration. 
 
Audit Committee 
The Audit Committee of the Board met twice in 2024. The Committee is chaired by Mr Hutchins. Other Directors 
and officers are invited to attend where appropriate. 
 

The role of the Audit Committee is to monitor the integrity of the financial statements, and to review any significant 
financial reporting issues, especially the consistency of, and changes to, accounting policy. The Committee also 
assesses the effectiveness of the Company's internal controls and risk management systems. The Committee 
considers and makes recommendations to the Board, to be put to shareholders for approval at the AGM, in 
relation to the appointment, re-appointment or replacement of the Company's external auditor. This extends to 
monitoring the effectiveness, remuneration and independence of the external auditors. 
 

The auditors of Oracle Power PLC are Price Bailey LLP who have served the Company since it was founded. 
Price Bailey have regularly rotated the audit engagement partner. The Committee’s view is that Price Bailey have 
served the Company well. The Committee has therefore concluded that, given the limited size of this audit 
engagement, the costs of re-tendering it cannot currently be justified.  
 

A. F. Ferguson & Co.  the local affiliate of Price Waterhouse Coopers, is based in Karachi and are the auditors 
of Sindh Carbon Energy Limited and Thar Electricity (Private) Ltd. Pitcher Partners are the local affiliate of Baker 
Tilly, based in Perth and are the auditors of Oracle Gold Pty Limited. Price Waterhouse Coopers (London) advises 
the Group on global tax matters and A. F. Ferguson & Co. and Pitcher Partners advise the Group on local tax 
matters.  
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 
 
 
The going concern assumption was reviewed by the Audit Committee. The carrying values of the various project 
assets rely upon the successful raising of sufficient finance to reach an investment decision and the Annual 
Report and Accounts reflect that judgement. 
 
In the area of internal controls, the Audit Committee monitors the internal control environment of the Group. The 
Committee also oversees the Group’s adherence to Market Abuse Regulations.  The Committee considers that 
internal controls are sound, both in Oracle Power PLC and in its subsidiary companies. The Committee monitors 
the Company’s Internal Control Manual and makes amendments as and when required. 
 
The risk assessment exercise for the Company is undertaken annually under the supervision of the Audit 
Committee. The results of the most recent exercise are included in this Report in the section Principal Risks and 
Uncertainties. 
 
Management Meetings 
The Senior Management of the Company meets regularly to discuss in detail project progress and all other 
aspects of the business and where appropriate tables recommendations to the Board for their consideration and 
approval. 
 
Tender Committee 
The Committee comprises Mr Hutchins as Chairman.  One meeting was held in 2024. The purpose of the Tender 
Committee is to ensure the fair and objective consideration of bids received for services and goods in respect of 
both capital and revenue expenditure. The Tender Committee must be consulted on all contracts or purchases 
which could exceed £10,000. The Tender Committee will recommend contract awards to the individuals 
authorised to commit the Company. In the case of contracts of £100,000 or more the final decision will be ratified 
by the Company’s full Board of Directors. 
 
Matters to be referred to the Tender Committee include: 
• lists of proposed tenderers 
• lists of proposed vendors 
• proposals to negotiate rather than tender contracts 
• opening and recording of sealed bids (which may be delegated to appropriate officers) 
• proposals to award contracts 
• variations, claims and over expenditure on contracts when these exceed 7% of the original price 
• renewal of existing contracts 
 
Accountability and Audit 
 
Financial Reporting 
The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced and understandable assessment of the Company’s position 
and prospects, extending to interim financial reports and other announcements. All announcements are approved 
by the Board and the Company’s Nominated Adviser. 
 
Internal Controls 
The Directors have overall responsibility for ensuring that the Group maintains a system of internal controls to 
provide them with reasonable assurance that the assets of the Group are safeguarded and that shareholders’ 
investments are safeguarded.  The system includes internal controls covering financial, operational and 
compliance areas, and risk management. There are limitations in any system of internal controls, which can 
provide reasonable but not absolute assurance with respect to the preparation of financial information, the 
safeguarding of assets and the possibility of material misstatement or loss.  
 
The Board has delegated responsibility for the monitoring of internal control to the Audit Committee, and this is 
covered in the Audit Committee Report. The Board considers that an internal audit function would not be 
appropriate at the current stage of the Group’s development but will keep the matter under regular review.
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Relations with Shareholders 
The Directors place great importance on maintaining good communications with both institutional and private 
investors. The Group reports formally to shareholders twice a year and more regular communication is provided 
through regulatory announcements and through the Company’s website. The Chief Executive, supported by the 
Group's brokers, makes interim presentations to shareholders as needed.  
 
ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD: 
 
 
Naheed Memon 
Chief Executive Officer 
20 June 2025 
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DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES STATEMENT 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 
 
 
 
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Group Strategic Report, Directors’ Report and the consolidated 
financial statements, in accordance with applicable law. 
 
Company law requires the Directors to prepare consolidated financial statements for each financial year. Under 
that law they have elected to prepare the consolidated financial statements in accordance with UK-adopted 
International Accounting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the UK. 
 
Under company law, the Directors must not approve the consolidated financial statements unless they are 
satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and the Company and of the profit 
or loss of the Group for that period. In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are required 
to: 
 

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 
 

• make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 
 

• state whether they have been prepared in accordance with UK-adopted International Accounting 
Standards, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; 

 

• assess the Group and Company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern; and 

 

• use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the Group or the Company 
or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

 
The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain 
the parent Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of 
the parent Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 
2006. They are responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and have general 
responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Group and to 
prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities. 
 
STATEMENT AS TO DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO AUDITORS 
So far as the Directors are aware, there is no relevant audit information (as defined by Section 418 of the 
Companies Act 2006) of which the Group’s auditors are unaware, and each director has taken all the steps that 
he ought to have taken as a director in order to make himself aware of any relevant audit information and to 
establish that the Group’s auditors are aware of that information. 
 
The auditors, Price Bailey LLP, have expressed their willingness to continue in office and a resolution to 
re-appoint them will be proposed at the Group’s forthcoming Annual General Meeting. 
 
ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD: 
 
 
 
Naheed Memon 
Chief Executive Officer 
 
 
Date: 20 June 2025 
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Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of Oracle Power Plc (the ‘Parent Company') and its subsidiaries (the 
'Group') for the year ended 31 December 2024 which comprise the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss, the 
Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, the 
Company Statement of Financial Position, the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity, the Company 
Statement of Changes in Equity, the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, the Company Statement of Cash 
Flows, and Notes to the Financial Statements, including significant accounting policies. The financial reporting 
framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and UK adopted international accounting 
standards and, as regards the Parent Company financial statements, as applied in accordance with the provisions 
of the Companies Act 2006.  
 
In our opinion: 

−    the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group's and of the Parent Company's 
affairs as at 31 December 2024 and of the Group's loss for the year then ended; 

−    the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK adopted 
international accounting standards; 

−    the Parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK adopted 
international accounting standards and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies 
Act 2006; and 

−   the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 
2006. 

 
Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable 
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor responsibilities for the audit 
of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group and Parent Company in 
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, 
including the FRC’s Ethical Standard as applied to listed entities and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Material uncertainty relating to going concern 
We draw attention to Note 2.1 in the financial statements, which explains that during the year under review, the 
Group experienced net cash outflows from operating activities, which it financed from existing cash resources 
held at the start of the year and cash received from the issue of new equity share capital. The directors have 
considered the cash flow requirements of the Group over the next 12 months and believe that additional funding 
will be required to meet the Group’s cash requirements over that period. As stated in Note 2.1, this condition, 
along with other matters as set forth in Notes 2.1, indicates that a material uncertainty exists that may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of 
this matter. 
 
Given the uncertainties noted above we considered going concern to be a Key Audit Matter. We have assessed 
management’s forecasts and underlying assumptions. In doing so we considered factors such as historical 
operating expenditure and the Group’s ability to raise funding in the near future.  We further assessed the 
accuracy of management’s forecasts for the year ended 31 December 2024 to the actual results and considering 
the impact of the base case forecast.  As of 31 December 2024 the Group had a cash balance of £619,197 and 
we assessed whether this will be sufficient to enable the Group to meet liabilities as they fall due. 
 
We found our results from the above and the disclosures in the financial statements in respect of the above to 
be appropriate. 
 
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.
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Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the Group’s and Parent Company’s ability to continue to adopt the 
going concern basis of accounting included review of forecasts covering at least 12 months after signing of the 
financial statements, review of management accounts after the year end, and consideration of available funding.    
 
We have considered the Group’s historical ability to raise funding through equity placements. We note that the 
Group has previously been successful in placing new shares with investors and typically has an identified party 
willing to underwrite or place the equity.   
 
Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the 
relevant sections of this report. 
 
Our approach to the audit 
Our Group audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding of the Group and its environment. We determined 
materiality and assessed the risk of material misstatement in the financial statements. In particular we looked at 
where the directors had made subjective judgements within accounting estimates. We addressed the risk of 
management override of internal controls including whether there was evidence of bias by the directors that 
represented a risk of material misstatements due to fraud. 
 
The Group has operating entities based in Pakistan and Australia. We assessed there to be four significant 
components being the Oracle Power Plc with operations in the UK, Sindh Carbon Energy Ltd and Thar Electricity 
(Private) Ltd with operations in Pakistan, and Oracle Gold Pty Limited with operations in Australia. 
 

The parent entity was subject to a full scope audit by the Group auditor. 
 

Key audit matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of 
the financial statements of the current period and include the most significant addressed risks of material 
misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) we identified, including those which had the greatest effect on the 
overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit, and directing the efforts of the engagement team. 
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming 
our opinion thereon, we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
 

In addition to the matter described in the Material uncertainty related to going concern section, we have 
determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report. 
 

Key Audit Matter  How our scope addressed this matter
  

Project feasibility and its impact on carrying value of 
intangibles 

 
The Group has substantial exploration assets on which the 
success of the Group is underpinned.  
 

As explained in Notes 2 and 11 to the financial statements the 
assessment of whether there are indicators of impairment in 
relation to exploration assets requires the exercise of 
significant judgement by management. 
 

Given the significant value of the exploration assets the 
assessment of whether there are indicators of impairment and 
the results of the impairment reviews represent a key audit 
matter for our audit. 
 

 
 
 
Review of management’s impairment review for 
Pakistan under IAS36, including the feasibility 
report prepared by an expert, and the company’s 
plans for financing and progressing the project.  
It also includes the progress of the project in the 
year and details key milestones achieved. 
 

Review of management’s assessment of 
indicators of impairment under IFRS6 in respect 
of the Australia project, including progress of the 
project in the year and details key milestones 
achieved. 
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Key Audit Matter  How our scope addressed this matter
  

For the primary project in Pakistan, the directors have 
performed an impairment review based on the financial 
feasibility of the project, comparing the carrying value to the 
recoverable amount, and have determined that no 
impairment is required.  
 

For the Australia project, the directors have assessed 
whether there is an indicator of impairment of the project. 
No impairment indicators have been identified for the 
Northern Zone and due to the impairment made in the 
previous year, no additional material impairments were 
identified. 
 
For the newly acquired Blue Rock Valley Copper and Silver 
Project, the directors have assessed whether there is an 
indicator of impairment of the project. No impairment 
indicators have been identified for the Blue Rock Valley 
Copper and Silver Project. 

Review of the status and validity of the 
exploration licences. 
 

Challenge of the management’s assessment 
and consideration of evidence provided including 
a review of key partner contracts and plans to 
take the project to financial close. 
 
We assessed management’s methodology of 
impairment review and considered the 
assumptions used by management. 
 

We evaluated the adequacy and 
appropriateness of the disclosures provided 
within the financial statements in Notes 2, 11 and 
14.  
 
Based on our work completed, we have 
concluded that the intangibles are materially 
correct, and no indicators of impairment exist. 

The valuation of the investments 
 
The carrying value of the investments are reliant on the 
projects becoming successful and generating revenues for 
the Group. 
 

 
 
The carrying value of the investments were 
reviewed in conjunction with the assessment of 
the projects, as detailed in the above Key Audit 
Matter ‘Project feasibility and its impact on 
carrying value of intangibles’. Whilst the projects 
are not currently profit-making, the review 
determined they have potential to be profit-
making in the future exceeding the current 
investment values. 
 

Recoverability of intercompany loans 
 
The recoverability of the intercompany loans and carrying 
value of investments are therefore also reliant on the 
feasibility of the projects of which detailed assessments 
have been made which conclude no impairments are 
required. 
 
Additionally, the company has intercompany loans due from 
Sindh Carbon Energy Limited, Thar Electricity (Private) 
Limited, Oracle Gold Pty Limited, and Oracle Energy FZCO 
Limited. The loans from subsidiaries are repayable on 
demand however are unlikely to be repaid until the 
respective projects become successful and the subsidiaries 
start to generate revenues, as explained in Note 14. 
Management has determined that there are no significant 
restrictions on the associate’s ability to repay loans issued, 
as explained in Note 13. 
 

 
 
The values have been agreed to subsidiary audit 
financial information received with on issues 
noted.  
 

Given recoverability of loans is dependent upon 
project success, we reviewed and assessed 
each project and corroborated to evidence 
obtained. This has been assessed in line with our 
audit work around the intangibles and their 
impairment as per Key Audit Matter ‘Project 
feasibility and its impact on carrying value of 
intangibles’ stated above.  
 

We conducted a review of the recoverability of 
the intercompany loans based on IFRS 9.  
 
Based on our review conducted the loans have 
been deemed recoverable. 
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Our application of materiality 
We consider materiality to be the magnitude by which misstatements, including omissions, could influence the 
economic decisions of reasonably knowledgeable users that are taken on the basis of financial statements. 
Materiality provides a basis for determining the nature and extent of our audit procedures. 
 
We based materiality on net assets of the Group and concluded materiality to be £340,000, with performance 
materiality of £187,000.  We report to Audit Committee any unadjusted differences of less than £17,000 (2023: 
£15,800). We consider that net assets provide us with the most relevant performance measure to stakeholders 
of the entity given the stage of the Group’s activity and growth. 
 
We set performance materiality at a level lower than materiality to reduce the probability that, in aggregate, 
uncorrected and undetected misstatements exceed the materiality for the financial statements as a whole. In 
determining our performance materiality, we have also considered the nature, quantum and volume of corrected 
and uncorrected misstatements in prior periods and our expectations that misstatements from prior periods would 
not likely recur in the current period. 
 
We apply the concept of materiality both in the planning and performance of the audit, and in evaluating the 
effects of misstatements. 
 
During the course of the audit we reassessed materiality from planning to reflect the final reported performance 
of the Group. There was no change made to our planning materiality. 
 
Other information 
The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements 
and our auditor’s report thereon.  The directors are responsible for the other information contained within the 
annual report. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the 
extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. Our 
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material 
misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial 
statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.  
 

We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:  
 

• the information given in the Group Strategic Report and the Report of the Directors for the financial 
year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; 
and 

• the Group Strategic Report and the Report of the Directors have been prepared in accordance 
with applicable legal requirements.
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Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the Parent Company and its environment 
obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the Group Strategic Report 
or the Report of the Directors. 
 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report 
to you if, in our opinion: 
 

• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent Company, or returns adequate 
for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or 

• the Parent Company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and 
returns; or 

• certain disclosures of Directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or 

• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 

Responsibilities of Directors 
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement, the Directors are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such 
internal control as the Directors determine necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group's and the Parent 
Company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or the Parent 
Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures 
in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, 
including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is 
detailed below: 

• The engagement partner ensured that the engagement team collectively had the appropriate 
competence, capabilities and skills to identify or recognise non-compliance with applicable laws and 
regulations; 
 

• We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework applicable to the Group and the 
Parent Company and the industry in which it operates and considered the risk of non-compliance with 
the applicable laws and regulations including fraud, in particular those that could have a material 
impact on the financial statements.  
 
This included those regulations directly related to the financial statements, including financial reporting, 
tax legislation and distributable profits. In relation to the industry this included licensing requirements, 
environmental legislation, mining laws and regulations, employment laws and health and safety.  
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• The risks were discussed with the audit team and we remained alert to any indications of non 
compliance throughout the audit.  We carried out specific procedures to address the risks identified. 
These included the following: 

o Reviewing minutes of Board meetings and correspondence with their regulators; 
o Agreeing the financial statement disclosures to underlying supporting documentation; and 
o Enquiries of management including those responsible for the key regulations for any instances 

of actual, suspected or alleged fraud or non-compliance. 
 

• To address the risk of management override of controls, we carried out testing of journal entries and 
other adjustments for appropriateness and evaluated the business rationale of significant transactions 
outside the normal course of business;   
 

• We discussed journals outside our expectations with informed management and assessed their 
appropriateness; 

 

• We challenged assumptions and judgements made by management in making its significant 
accounting estimates; and 

 

• We also assessed management bias in relation to the accounting policies adopted and in 
determining significant accounting estimates.  

 
Because of the inherent limitations of an audit, there is a risk that we will not detect all irregularities, including 
those leading to a material misstatement in the financial statements or non-compliance with regulation.  This risk 
increases the more that compliance with a law or regulation is removed from the events and transactions reflected 
in the financial statements, as we will be less likely to become aware of instances of non-compliance. The risk is 
also greater regarding irregularities occurring due to fraud rather than error, as fraud involves intentional 
concealment, forgery, collusion, omission or misrepresentation. 
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial 
Reporting Council's website at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our Report 
of the Auditors. 
 
Use of our report 
This report is made solely to the company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the 
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company's members 
those matters we are required to state to them in a Report of the Auditors and for no other purpose. To the fullest 
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the 
company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.  
 

 
  
Adam Norman FCCA (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
for and on behalf of 
Price Bailey LLP 
  

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 
Tennyson House 
Cambridge Business Park 
Cambridge 
CB4 0WZ 
 
20 June 2025 
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    2024 2023 

   Note £ £ 
 
CONTINUING OPERATIONS      

      

 
Administrative expenses     (730,119)   (848,058)  

 
LOSS FROM OPERATIONS    

   

 (730,119)  

   

 (848,058)  
      

 
Finance income 6   21,679   36,688  
 
Other gains / (losses)  - 26,697 
    
Share of the loss of associates using equity method 13 (3,435) (5,122) 

 
LOSS BEFORE TAX    

   

 (711,875)  

   

 (789,795)  
      

 
LOSS FOR THE YEAR    

   

 (711,875)  

   

 (789,795) 
 

     2024 2023 

     Pence Pence 
Earnings per share attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the parent 
   

 
PROFIT OR LOSS      

 
Basic  9   (0.01)   (0.02)  
 
Diluted  9   (0.01)   (0.02)  

 
The notes on pages 46 to 79 form part of these financial statements. 
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    2024 2023 

    £ £ 
 
Loss for the year 
     (711,875)   (789,795)  
      

 
ITEMS THAT WILL OR MAY BE RECLASSIFIED TO PROFIT OR 
LOSS:      

 
Exchange gain/(loss) arising on translation on foreign operations     145,800   (317,429)  
 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME / (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR, NET 
OF TAX    

   

 145,800  

   

 (317,429)  

 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS    

   

 (566,075)  

   

   (1,107,224)  

 

 
The notes on pages 46 to 79 form part of these financial statements.
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Assets     

   
Note 

2024 
£ 

 2023 
£ 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS     

Property, plant and equipment 10 3,435    2,202  

Intangible assets 11 5,196,275   4,759,055  

Investments in equity-accounted associates 13  728,671    732,106  

Loans and other financial assets 14  387,603    719,024  

     

     6,315,984    6,212,387  

CURRENT ASSETS     

Trade and other receivables 15  43,773    46,909  

Cash and cash equivalents 25 619,197    203,526  
     

     662,970    250,435  
       

TOTAL ASSETS     6,978,954    6,462,822  
     

Liabilities     

     

CURRENT LIABILITIES       
     

Trade and other payables 18   192,188   146,565  
     

     192,188    146,565  
       

TOTAL LIABILITIES     192,188    146,565  
       

NET ASSETS     6,786,766    6,316,257  

 
    

ISSUED CAPITAL AND RESERVES ATTRIBUTABLE TO 
OWNERS OF THE PARENT 

      

     

Share capital 16  3,800,789    3,745,415  

Share premium reserve   17  20,090,872    19,109,662  

Foreign exchange reserve   17 (1,166,754)  (1,312,554) 

Share scheme reserve   17  9,759    9,759  

Retained earnings   17 (15,947,900)  (15,236,025) 
     

TOTAL EQUITY     6,786,766    6,316,257  

 

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 20 June 2025 and 

were signed on its behalf by: 

 

 

 
Naheed Memon 

Chief Executive Officer 

 

The notes on pages 46 to 79 form part of these financial statements. 
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  2024  2023 

 Note £  £ 
     

Assets     

       

NON-CURRENT ASSETS     

Property, plant and equipment 10 -  69 
Intangible assets 11 3,895,622  3,665,622 
Investments in equity-accounted associates 13 728,671  732,106 
Investments  13 2,898,531  2,898,531 
Loans and other financial assets 14 2,811,871  2,926,786 

     
    10,334,695  10,223,114 

     

CURRENT ASSETS     

Trade and other receivables 15 38,842  43,849 
Cash and cash equivalents 25 604,851  192,574 

     
    643,693  236,423 

       

TOTAL ASSETS    10,978,388  10,459,537 
     

Liabilities     

CURRENT LIABILITIES       

     

Trade and other payables 18 159,992  122,998 
     

    159,992  122,998 
       

TOTAL LIABILITIES    159,992  122,998 
     

Net assets    10,818,396  10,336,539 

 
    

ISSUED CAPITAL AND RESERVES ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS 
OF THE PARENT 

      

     

Share capital 16 3,800,789  3,745,415 
Share premium reserve 17   20,090,872  19,109,662 
Share scheme reserve 17   9,759  9,759 
Retained earnings 17   (13,083,024)  (12,528,297) 

       

TOTAL EQUITY    10,818,396  10,336,539 

     
The Company's loss for the year was £554,727 (2023 - £658,448). 
 

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 20 June 2025 and 
were signed on its behalf by: 
 

 

 
Naheed Memon 
Chief Executive Officer 
 

The notes on pages 46 to 79 form part of these financial statements. 
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Share 

capital 
Share 

premium 

Share 
scheme 
reserve 

Foreign 
exchange 

reserve 
Retained 
earnings 

Total 
attributable 

to equity 
holders of 

parent Total equity 

 
 £ £ £ £ £ £ £ 
 
At 1 January 2024  3,745,415   19,109,662   9,759   (1,312,554)   (15,236,025)  6,316,257   6,316,257  

 
Comprehensive income / (loss) for the year        
 
Loss for the year  -   -   -   -   (711,875)   (711,875)   (711,875)  

 
Other comprehensive income  -   -   -   145,800   -   145,800   145,800  

 
Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the year  -   -   -   145,800   (711,875)   (566,075)   (566,075)  

 
Contributions by and distributions to owners        
 
Issue of share capital (note 16)  55,374   1,041,293   -   -   -   1,096,667   1,096,667  

Share issue costs - (60,083)  -   -   -  (60,083) (60,083) 

 
Total contributions by and distributions to owners  55,374   981,210   -   -   -   1,036,584   1,036,584  

 
At 31 December 2024 

   

 3,800,789  

   

 20,090,872  

   

 9,759  

   

 (1,166,754)  

   

 (15,947,900)  

   

 6,786,766  

   

 6,786,766  
 
The notes on pages 46 to 79 form part of these financial statements. 
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PRIOR FINANCIAL YEAR 

 
Share 

capital 
Share 

premium 

Share 
scheme 
reserve 

Foreign 
exchange 

reserve 
Retained 
earnings 

Total 
attributable 

to equity 
holders of 

parent Total equity 

 
 £ £ £ £ £ £ £ 
 
At 1 January 2023  3,078,297   18,632,040   58,179   (995,125)   (14,504,409)   6,268,982   6,268,982  

 
Comprehensive loss for the year        
 
Loss for the year  -   -   -   -   (789,795)   (789,795)   (789,795)  

 
Other comprehensive loss  -   -   -   (317,429)   -   (317,429)   (317,429)  

 
Total comprehensive loss for the year  -   -   -   (317,429)   (789,795)   (1,107,224)   (1,107,224)  

 
Contributions by and distributions to owners        
 
Issue of share capital (Note 16)  667,118   477,622   9,759   -   -   1,154,499   1,154,499  

 
Transfer to/from retained earnings  -   -   (58,179)   -   58,179   -   -  

 
Total contributions by and distributions to owners  667,118   477,622   (48,420)   -   58,179   1,154,499  1,154,499 

 
At 31 December 2023 

   

 3,745,415  

   

 19,109,662  

   

 9,759  

   

 (1,312,554)  

   

 (15,236,025)  

   

 6,316,257  

   

 6,316,257  
 
The notes on pages 46 to 79 form part of these financial statements. 



 

    

ORACLE POWER PLC 
 

 
  

  

COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 

 
 

 

 
 

Page 40 

 

 
Share 

capital 
Share 

premium 

Share 
scheme 
reserve 

Retained 
earnings Total equity 

 
 £ £ £ £ £ 
 
At 1 January 2024 3,745,415  19,109,662   9,759   (12,528,297)   10,336,539  

 
Comprehensive loss for the year      
 
Loss for the year  -   -   -   (554,727)   (554,727)  

 
Total comprehensive loss for the 
year  -   -   -   (554,727)   (554,727)  

 
Contributions by and distributions 
to owners      
 
Issue of share capital (Note 16)  55,374   1,041,293   -   -   1,096,667  

 
Share issue costs  -   (60,083)  -   -   (60,083) 

 
Total contributions by and 
distributions to owners  55,374   981,210   -   -   1,036,584  

 
At 31 December 2024 

   

 3,800,789  

   

 20,090,872  

   

 9,759  

   

 (13,083,024)  

   

 10,818,396  
 
The notes on pages 46 to 79 form part of these financial statements. 
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PRIOR FINANCIAL YEAR 

 
Share 

capital 
Share 

premium 

Share 
scheme 
reserve 

Retained 
earnings Total equity 

 
 £ £ £ £ £ 
 
At 1 January 2023  3,078,297   18,632,040   58,179   (11,928,028)   9,840,488  

 
Comprehensive loss for the year      
 
Loss for the year  -   -   -   (658,448)   (658,448)  

 
Total comprehensive loss for the 
year  -   -   -   (658,448)   (658,448)  

 
Contributions by and distributions 
to owners      
 
Issue of share capital (Note16)  667,118   477,622   9,759   -  1,154,499 

 
Transfer to/from retained earnings  -   -   (58,179)   58,179   -  

 
Total contributions by and 
distributions to owners  667,118   477,622   (48,420)   58,179   1,154,499  

 
At 31 December 2023 

   

 3,745,415  

   

 19,109,662  

   

 9,759  

   

 (12,528,297)  

   

 10,336,539  
 
The notes on pages 46 to 79 form part of these financial statements. 
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  2024  2023 

 Note £  £ 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES     

    
           

(711,875) 
            

(789,795) 
Loss for the year     

       

ADJUSTMENTS FOR     
     

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 7 69   205  

Impairment losses on intangible assets 11 -   18,516  

Impairment losses recognised on loans to associates    
             

14,011 
              

28,415 

Loss from investments in associates 13 3,435  5,122 

Finance income 6 
             

(21,679) 
              

(36,688) 

Net foreign exchange loss    
             

56,666 
              

67,135 
     

    
           

(659,373) 
            

(707,090) 
MOVEMENTS IN WORKING CAPITAL:       

Increase /(decrease) in trade and other receivables    
           

3,136 
            

(1,840) 

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other payables    
             

45,623  
              

(56,468)  

       

NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES    
           

(610,614) 
            

(765,398) 
     

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES       
     

Purchase of Australia exploration fixed assets 11 
               

(276,394) 
                

(37,754) 

Purchase of Pakistan project fixed assets 11 
           

(64,324) 
            

(61,806) 

Proceeds from disposal of financial fixed assets  410,979  - 

Payments for investments in associates 13                             
(68,446) 

Issue of loans    
           

(82,423) 
            

(167,483) 

Interest received 
6   

             
1,772  

              
2,242  

     

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES    
           

(10,390) 
            

(333,247) 
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CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES     

     

Issue of ordinary shares 16 
          

1,096,667   

          
1,213,000  

Share issue costs  (60,083)  (58,500) 
     

NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    
          

1,036,584  
           

1,154,500  
     

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS    
               

415,580  

 
               

55,855  
     
 

 

        

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of year    
             

203,526   

             
150,905  

Exchange gain / (loss) on cash and cash equivalents                   91  

               
(3,234) 

     

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR 25 
             

619,197  
             

203,526  

 

The notes on pages 46 to 79 form part of these financial statements. 
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  2024  2023 

 Note £  £ 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES     

     

Loss for the year    
           

(554,727) 
            

(658,448) 
       

ADJUSTMENTS FOR     

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 10 
                    

69  
                     

205  

Impairment loss recognised on other receivables    
             

56,687 
              

57,742 
     
Loss from investments in associates   3,435  5,122 

Finance income    (160,785) 
 

(164,949) 

Net foreign exchange loss    59,246  
 

 63,734  
     

    
           

(596,075) 
            

(696,594) 
MOVEMENTS IN WORKING CAPITAL:       

     

Decrease in trade and other receivables    
             

5,007 
              

144,645 

Increase / (decrease) in trade and other payables    
             

36,994 
              

(52,964) 

Increase in loans to subsidiaries             
(252,984) 

            
(428,100) 

       

NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
 

        
(807,058) 

         
(1,033,013)      

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES     
     

Payments for investments in associates 13   -                           
(68,446) 

     
Purchase of Australia Exploration Fixed assets  (230,000)  - 
     
Proceeds from disposal of financial fixed assets  410,979  - 

Interest received  

             
1,772   

             
2,242  

       

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES  

               
182,751  

                
(66,204)  
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CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES          

Issue of ordinary shares  

          
1,096,667   

          
1,213,000  

Share issue costs  (60,083)  (58,500) 
     

NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    
          

1,036,584 
           

1,154,500  
     

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS    
               

412,277  

 
               

55,283  
     

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of year    
             

192,574   

             
137,291  

     

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR 25 
             

604,851  
              

192,574  

 
The notes on pages 46 to 79 form part of these financial statements
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1. STATUTORY INFORMATION 
 

Oracle Power PLC is a public company, limited by shares and registered and domiciled in England and 
Wales. It is the ultimate holding company of the Oracle Power PLC Group. The Group is primarily involved 
in an energy project, based on the exploration and development of coal and construction of a mine-mouth 
power plant in Pakistan.  The Group also has two exploration projects in Western Australia and a green 
hydrogen project in Pakistan.  The presentation currency of the financial statements is Pounds Sterling 
(£). The Company’s registered number and registered office address can be found in the General 
Information section of this report. 

 
2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

2.1 Going concern 
 

During the year under review, the Group experienced net cash outflows from its operating activities which 
it financed from existing cash resources held at the start of the year and cash received from the issue of 
new equity share capital. The Directors have considered the cash flow requirements of the Group over the 
next 12 months and believe that additional funding will be required to meet the Group’s cash requirements 
over that period.  This additional cash requirement creates a material uncertainty that may cast significant 
doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.  However, the Directors expect to be able 
to meet the funding requirements for the Group to continue as a going concern for at least 12 months from 
the date of the approval of these financial statements through the use of existing cash resources and 
further issue of new ordinary share capital and, consequently, the Directors consider it appropriate to adopt 
the going concern basis in the preparation of the financial statements.  

 
2.2 Compliance with accounting standards 

 
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with UK adopted International Accounting 
Standards and IFRIC interpretations and with those parts of the Companies Act 2006 applicable to 
reporting groups under IFRS. 
 
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention. 

 
2.3 Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 

 
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the amounts reported for revenues and expenses during the year and the amounts 
reported for assets and liabilities at the statement of financial position date. However, the nature of 
estimation means that the actual outcomes could differ from those estimates. 
 
The key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of causing material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are the measurement of any 
impairment on intangible assets and the estimation of share-based payment costs.  
 
The principal risk and uncertainty in respect of the intangible assets (exploration assets) is that the Group 
may not reach financial close. The Board has tested the intangible assets for impairment. For this test, the 
Board considered market values of the assets (where applicable); results from technical and feasibility 
studies and reports; and the possibility of future project options available. Based on this, the Board have 
concluded that no impairment provision is required. 
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The Group determines whether there is any impairment of intangible assets on an annual basis. 
 
At the balance sheet date, the intangible assets are carried forward at their cost of £5,795,108 (2023: 
£5,357,888) less impairment of £598,833 (2023: £598,833). 
 
2.4 Basis of consolidation 

 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities 
controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries) made up to 31 December each year. Control is achieved 
where the Company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an investee entity so 
as to obtain benefits from its activities. 
 
Business acquisitions have been accounted for in accordance with IFRS 3, 'Business Combinations'. Fair 
values are attributed to the Group's share of net assets. Where the cost of acquisition exceeds the fair 
values attributed to such assets, the difference is treated as purchased goodwill and is capitalised.  
 
2.5 Intangible assets 

 

(i) Intangible fixed assets - Australia exploration costs 
 

Expenditure on the acquisition costs, exploration and evaluation of interests in licences, including related 
finance and administration costs, are capitalised.  Such costs are carried forward in the statement of 
financial position under intangible assets and amortised over the minimum period of the expected future 
commercial production of gold in respect of each area of interest where: 
 

a)  such costs are expected to be recouped through successful development and exploration of the 
area of interest or alternatively by its sale; 
 

b)  exploration activities have not yet reached a stage that permits a reasonable assessment of the 
existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves and active operations in relation to the areas 
are continuing. 
 

An annual impairment review is carried out by the Directors when specific facts and circumstances indicate 
that an impairment test is required, such as:  
 

(1) the period for which the entity has the right to explore in the specific area has expired during the period 
or will expire in the near future and is not expected to be renewed. 
 

(2) substantive expenditure on further exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the specific 
area is neither budgeted nor planned. 
 

(3) exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the specific area have not led to the discovery of 
commercially viable quantities of mineral resources and the entity has decided to discontinue such 
activities in the specific area. 
 

(4) sufficient data exists to indicate that, although a development in the specific area is likely to proceed, 
the carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation asset is unlikely to be recovered in full from 
successful future development or by sale. 
 
In any such case, or similar cases, the entity shall perform an impairment test in accordance with IAS 36. 
Any impairment loss is recognised as an expense in accordance with IAS 36 
 
Australia exploration costs are carried at cost less any provision for impairment.
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2.5 Intangible assets (continued) 
 
ii) Intangible fixed assets - Pakistan project costs 
 
Expenditure on the Pakistan project to achieve final project approval prior to the start of mining operations 
including related finance and administration costs are capitalised.  Such costs are carried forward in the 
statement of financial position under intangible assets and amortised over the minimum period of the 
expected future commercial production of coal in respect of each area of interest  
 
The Pakistan project costs are tested annually for impairment by comparing the carrying amount to the 
recoverable amount. Pakistan project costs are carried at cost less any provision for impairment. 
 
2.6 Property, plant and equipment 

 
Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is 
provided at the following annual rates in order to write off each asset over its estimated useful life.  
 
 Fixtures and fittings -  15% on reducing balance  
 Motor vehicles -  20% on reducing balance  
 Computer equipment -  30% on reducing balance  
 
2.7 Investments in subsidiaries 
 
A subsidiary is an entity over which the Group has control. Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost. 
The investments are reviewed annually and any impairment is taken directly to the statement of profit or 
loss. Investments in subsidiaries are fully consolidated within the Group financial statements from the 
date on which control is transferred to the Group and deconsolidated on the date when control ceases. 

 

2.8 Investments in associates 
 
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to 
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over 
those policies. 

 

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these consolidated financial 
statements using the equity method of accounting, except when the investment, or a portion thereof, is 
classified as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5. Under the equity 
method, an investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised in the consolidated statement 
of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income of the associate or joint venture. When the Group's share of losses of an 
associate exceeds the Group's interest in that associate or joint venture (which includes any long-term 
interests that, in substance, form part of the Group's net investment in the associate, the Group discontinues 
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has 
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate. 

 

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which the investee 
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any excess of the 
cost of the investment over the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of 
the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any 
excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the 
investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the 
investment is acquired. 
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2.8 Investments in associates (continued) 
 
The requirements of IAS 36 are applied to determine whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment 
loss with respect to the Group's investment in an associate or joint venture. When necessary, the entire 
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 
Impairment of Assets as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair 
value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the 
carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with 
IAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases. 

 

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the date when the investment ceases to be an 
associate or joint venture, or when the investment is classified as held for sale. When the Group retains an 
interest in the former associate or joint venture and the retained interest is a financial asset, the Group 
measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on 
initial recognition in accordance with IFRS 9. The difference between the carrying amount of the associate 
or joint venture at the date the equity method was discontinued, and the fair value of any retained interest 
and any proceeds from disposing of a part interest in the associate or joint venture is included in the 
determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate or joint venture. In addition, the Group accounts 
for all amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that associate or joint 
venture on the same basis as would be required if that associate or joint venture had directly disposed of the 
related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income 
by that associate or joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets 
or liabilities, the Group reclassified the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification 
adjustment) when the equity method is discontinued. The Group continues to use the equity method when 
an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or an investment in a joint venture 
becomes an associate. There is no remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in ownership interests. 

 
When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or a joint venture but the Group continues to 
use the equity method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had 
previously been recognised in the other comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership 
interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or 
liabilities. 

 
When a Group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting 
from the transactions with the associate or joint ventures are recognised in the Group's consolidated financial 
statements only to the extent of interests in the associate or joint venture that are not related to the Group. 
 
2.9 Leasing 

 
All leases held are either short-term leases or are for low value assets. The rentals paid are charged to 
the statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. 
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2.10 Foreign currency 

 
In preparing the financial statements of each individual Group entity, transactions in currencies other 
than the entity's functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange 
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items 
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary 
items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates 
prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in 
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated. 
 
Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise 
except for exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under construction for  
future productive use, which are included in the cost of those assets when they are regarded as an 
adjustment to interest costs on those foreign currency borrowings; 
 
For the purposes of presenting these consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the 
Group's foreign operations are translated into pounds using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each 
reporting period. Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, 
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the 
dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity (and attributed to non-controlling interests as 
appropriate). 
 
On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, 
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a partial 
disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign operation of which 
the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in 
respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss. 
 
In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation that does not 
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated exchange 
differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all 
other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates or joint arrangements that do not result in the 
Group losing significant influence or joint control), the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange 
differences is reclassified to profit or loss. 
 
Goodwill and fair value adjustments to identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed through 
acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and 
translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange differences 
arising are recognised in other comprehensive income. 
 
2.11 Employee benefits 

 
Retirement benefit costs and termination benefits 

The group operates a defined contribution pension scheme. Contributions payable to the group's 
pension scheme are charged to the income statement in the period to which they relate. 
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2.12 Share-based payments 

 
Share-based payment transactions of the Company 

Where equity settled share warrants are awarded to employees, the fair value of the warrants at the date 
of grant is charged to the statement of profit or loss over the vesting period. Non-market vesting 
conditions are taken into account by adjusting the number of equity instruments expected to vest at each 
statement of financial position date so that, ultimately, the cumulative amount recognised over the 
vesting period is based on the number of warrants that eventually vest. Market vesting conditions are 
factored into the fair value of all warrants granted. As long as all other vesting conditions are satisfied, a 
charge is made irrespective of whether market vesting conditions are satisfied. The cumulative expense 
is not adjusted for failure to achieve a market vesting condition. 
 
Where terms and conditions of warrants are modified before they vest, the increase in the fair value of 
the warrants, measured immediately before and after the modification, is also charged to the statement 
of profit or loss over the remaining vesting period. Where equity instruments are granted to persons other 
than employees, the statement of profit or loss is charged with the fair value of goods and services 
received. 

 
2.13 Financial instruments 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Group’s statement of financial position 
when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, except for trade receivables 
that do not have a significant financing component which are measured at transaction price. Transaction 
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities 
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or 
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial 
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss. 
 
Financial Assets: 
 
The Group classifies its financial assets other than investments in subsidiaries and associates as 
financial assets at amortised cost, at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) or at fair 
value through profit or loss (FVTPL). The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial 
assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial 
recognition. 
 
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it is held within a business model whose objective is to 
collect contractual cash flows and its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
 
A financial asset is measured at FVOCI if it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved 
by collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets and its contractual terms give rise on 
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount 
outstanding. 
 
A financial asset is measured at FVTPL if it is not measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI. 
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2.13 Financial instruments (continued) 
Financial assets (continued) 
 
All of the Group financial assets are currently classified at amortised cost. 
 
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. They are included in current 
assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the balance sheet date. These are classified 
as non-current assets. 
 
Trade receivables, with standard payment terms of between 30 to 65 days, are recognised and carried at 
the lower of their original invoiced and recoverable amount.  
 
A loss allowance is recognised on initial recognition of financial assets held at amortised cost, based on 
expected credit losses, and is re-measured annually with changes appearing in profit or loss. Where 
there has been a significant increase in credit risk of the financial instrument since initial recognition, the 
loss allowance is measured based on lifetime expected losses. In all other cases, the loss allowance is 
measured based on 12-month expected losses. For assets with a maturity of 12 months or less, 
including trade receivables, the 12-month expected loss allowance is equal to the lifetime expected loss 
allowance. 
 
The Group’s financial assets are disclosed in notes 14 and 15. 
 
Financial Liabilities: 
 
The Group classifies its financial liabilities at amortised cost or at FVTPL. A financial liability is measured 
at FVTPL if it is classified as held for trading, it is a derivative or it is designated as such on initial 
recognition, otherwise it is classified at amortised cost. 
 
All of the Group’s financial liabilities are currently classified at amortised cost. 
 
Financial liabilities at amortised cost are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. They are classified as non-current when the payment falls due more than 12 months after 
the year end date.  
 
2.14 Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the cash flow statement comprise cash and bank 
balances. 
 
2.15 New Standards and Interpretations applied 

 
There are no IFRSs or IFRIC interpretations that are effective for the first time for the financial year 
beginning 1 January 2024 that would be expected to have a material impact on the Group. 
 
New and revised standards not yet effective 
Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been issued but have not been applied by 
the Group in preparing these financial statements as they are not as yet effective. These standards are 
not expected to have a material impact on the Group in the current or future periods and on foreseeable 
future transactions with the exception of IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements.  
IFRS 18 when implemented from year ended 31 December 2027 will require additional analysis and 
disclosure for the Income Statement.
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3. SEGMENT INFORMATION 

 
Based on risks and returns, the Directors consider that the primary business reporting format is by business 
segment which are currently: 

1) the principal activity of the Group which is an energy project developer, based on the exploration and 
proposed development of a coal mine and construction of a mine-mouth power plant in Pakistan (the 
“Pakistan Energy Project”); 

2) an investment in certain tenements in Western Australia for the exploration and future extraction of gold 
(the “Australia Gold Project”); and 

3) a green hydrogen project in Pakistan (the “Pakistan Green Hydrogen Project”).   
 
These segments are not yet revenue generating and the primary financial reporting metrics are the value 
of intangible assets relating to the projects and total spend to date.  The Pakistan Green Hydrogen Project 
is carried out through the Company's investment in associates which is not included in the analysis below.  
 
To-date the Group has raised a total of £22.74m and spent £18.0m on Thar Block VI and £0.9m on the 
Australia Gold Project net of impairment of £0.6m.  
 
The following is an analysis of the Group's results by reportable segment in the year under review: 
 

Segment Profit and Loss Statement 2024  2023 

 £  £ 

    

Pakistan Energy Project  (5,113)  (31,727) 

Australia Gold Project  (90,860)  (88,831) 

Sindh Carbon Energy Project -  (69,829) 

Total reportable segment – loss before tax (95,973)  (190,387) 

Administrative expenses  (634,146)  (657,671) 

Finance income   21,679    36,688  

Other gains and losses   -      26,697    

Share of the loss of associates using equity method (3,435)  (5,122) 

    

Loss before tax  (711,875)  (789,795) 

 
 

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies 
described in note 2. Segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment without allocation of the 
share of profits of associates and joint ventures, central administration costs including directors’ salaries, 
finance income, non-operating gains and losses in respect of financial instruments and finance costs, and 
income tax expense. This is the measure reported to the Group’s Chief Executive for the purpose of 
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance
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3. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
 
 
 Segment assets 
 

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating resources between segments the 
Group’s Chief Executive monitors the tangible, intangible and financial assets attributable to each 
segment. All non-current assets are allocated to reportable segments as shown below: 

 
  2024 2023 

  £ £ 

        

Pakistan Energy Project   4,663,961   4,255,005  

Australia Gold and Copper Project   532,314   504,050  

Pakistan Green Hydrogen Project 1,116,274 1,451,130  

Total segment assets   6,312,549   6,210,185  

Unallocated assets   3,435   2,202  
        

Consolidated total assets   6,315,984   6,212,387  

 
Segment liabilities 2024 2023 
 £ £ 
Pakistan Energy Project 16,439 15,526 
Australia Gold and Copper Project 6,396 8,138 

Total segment liabilities 22,835 23,664 
   
Unallocated liabilities 169,353 122,901 
   

Consolidated total liabilities 192,188 146,565 

 
Other Disclosures for the Reportable Segments 

   Depreciation &   Amortisation   Additions to  non-current*  

            assets*  

  2024 2023 2024 2023 

  £ £ £ £ 

Pakistan Energy Project   1,263   637   64,324   61,806 

Australia Gold and Copper Project   -   -   276,394   37,754  

              

   1,263   637   340,718   99,560  

 

*These amounts exclude additions to financial instruments. 
 

In addition to the depreciation and amortisation reported above, impairment losses of £nil (2023: £18,516) 
were recognised in respect of non-current assets. These impairment losses were all attributable to the 
Australia Gold and Copper Project. 
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4. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES 

 
Group 

     2024 2023 

 

 
EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING DIRECTORS) 
COMPRISE:   

 

 
Wages and salaries  286,695   265,000  

 

 
National insurance  5,345   2,494  

 

 
Defined contribution pension cost  4,027   3,750  

  

   

 296,067  

   

         271,244 

 
 All employee benefit expenses relate to key management personnel. Key management personnel are 

those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the 
Group, including the directors of the Company listed on page 21, and the Financial Controller of the 
Company.   
 

  

 

The monthly average number of persons, including the directors, employed by the Group during the year 
was as follows: 
 

     2024 2023 

     No. No. 

 

 
Directors  4   3  

 

 
Administration and production  1   1  

 

  

   

 5  

   

 4  
 

 

Company 
 
 

     2024 2023 

     £ £ 

 

 
EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING DIRECTORS) 
COMPRISE:   

 

 
Wages and salaries  286,695   265,000  

 

 
National insurance  5,345   2,494  

 

 
Defined contribution pension cost  4,027   3,750  

  

   

         296,067 

   

        271,244  
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4. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES (CONTINUED) 
 
All employee benefit expenses relate to key management personnel. Key management personnel are      
those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of 
the Group, including the directors of the Company listed on page 21, and the financial Controller of the 
Company. 

  

 

The monthly average number of persons, including the directors, employed by the Company during the 
year was as follows: 
 
 

     2024 2023 

     No. No. 

 

 
Directors  4   3  

 

 
Administration and production  1   1  

  

   

 5  

   

 4  
 

5. DIRECTORS’S REMUNERATION 

     2024 2023 

     £ £ 

    

 

 
Directors' emoluments  226,300  210,000  

 

 
Group contributions to pension schemes  2,622   2,100  

  

   

 228,922  

   

         212,100 

 
During the year, no directors (2023 - no directors) exercised share options. 
 
No directors (2023 – 0 directors) had retirement benefits accruing under money purchase schemes. 

 
 The highest paid director's emoluments were as follows: 

 
 

     2024 2023 

     £ £ 

 

 
Total emoluments and amounts receivable under long-term incentive 
schemes (excluding shares)  150,000   150,000  

  

   

 150,000  

   

         150,000 
 

The highest paid director exercised no share options during the year (2023: none) and has no retirement 
benefits accruing under money purchase schemes (2023: none). 
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6. FINANCE INCOME AND EXPENSE 
 

 
 Recognised in profit or loss   

 
    

 
  2024  2023 
  £  £ 

 Finance income    

     

 Interest on:    

 - Bank deposits 1,772  17,186 
     

 TOTAL INTEREST INCOME ARISING FROM FINANCIAL ASSETS 
MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST 

1,772  17,186 

     
     
 Share of associates' interest receivable 19,907  19,502 
     

 TOTAL FINANCE INCOME 21,679  36,688 
     

     

 NET FINANCE INCOME RECOGNISED IN PROFIT OR LOSS 21,679  36,688 

 
7. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 
 

The loss before income tax is stated after charging / (crediting): 
 

  2024 2023 

  £ £ 

        

Depreciation - owned assets   68   205  

Impairment of debtors 14,011 46,931 

Auditors' remuneration   40,769  37,203  

Foreign exchange differences   59,246  63,734  
 

In addition to the depreciation charges shown above, the Group incurred charges of £1,263 (2023: £637) 
which have been capitalised as exploration costs by the subsidiary company in accordance with the 
Group’s accounting policy. 

 



 

    

ORACLE POWER PLC 
    

 
  

  

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 

 
 

 
 

Page 58 

 
8. INCOME TAX 
 

Analysis of tax expense 
No liability to UK corporation tax arose for the year ended 31 December 2024 nor for the year ended 31 
December 2023.  
 
Factors affecting the tax expense 
The tax assessed for the year is higher than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK. The 
difference is explained below: 

 
  2024 2023 

  £ £ 

        

Loss before income tax   (711,875)   (789,795)  

Loss multiplied by the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 25% 
(2023 - 25%) 
   (177,969)   (197,449)  
Effects of:        

Foreign losses of subsidiaries   18,235   31,101  

Inter-company items eliminated   19,732   (573)  

Disallowed expenses   2,675   8,956  

Potential deferred taxation on losses for year   137,327   157,965  

        

   -   -  

 
The Group and Company has estimated UK excess management charges of £11,580,629 (2023: 
£11,597,714) to carry forward against future income. The overseas subsidiaries have losses of £792,125 
(2023: £722,849) which will be carried forward to offset future profits. There is no charge for foreign taxation 
for the year (2023: nil). 
 
The Group does not account for deferred taxation on losses as it considers the timing of achieving recurring 
profitability is uncertain.  There are no undistributed subsidiary or associate profits that would require the 
Group to recognise a deferred tax liability. 
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9. EARNINGS PER SHARE 

 
 

    
 (i) Basic earnings per share    

  2024  2023 
  Pence  Pence 
     

 From continuing operations attributable to the ordinary equity holders of 
the Company 

(0.01)  (0.02) 

     

 TOTAL BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE 
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY 

(0.01)  (0.02) 

 
    

 (ii) Diluted earnings per share    
     
     

 From continuing operations attributable to the ordinary equity holders of 
the Company 

(0.01)  (0.02) 

     

 TOTAL DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE 
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY 

(0.01)  (0.02) 

     
 (iii) Reconciliation of earnings used in calculating earnings per 

share 

   

    

  2024 
£ 

 2023 
£ 

 LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF     

 THE COMPANY USED IN CALCULATING BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE:   
 

 (711,875) 
 

(789,795)  From continuing operations  

 
 (711,785)  (789,795) 

 
 

   
LOSS FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE 
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY:  

 
 

 
  

Used in calculating basic earnings per share (711,875)  (789,795) 

 
    

USED IN CALCULATING DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE (711,875)  (789,795) 
     

 

    

LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF 
THE COMPANY USED IN CALCULATING DILUTED EARNINGS PER 
SHARE 

(711,875)  (789,795) 
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(iv) Weighted average number of shares used as the denominator 
 

     2024 2023 

     Number Number 

    

 

 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the 
denominator in calculating basic earnings per share  6,555,666,212   3,696,910,701 

 

 
WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF ORDINARY SHARES AND 
POTENTIAL ORDINARY SHARES USED AS THE 
DENOMINATOR IN CALCULATING DILUTED EARNINGS PER 
GROUP 

   

 6,555,666,212  

   

      3,696,910,701  

 
At the year end, there were 613,544,706 warrants outstanding (2023: 113,544,706) that could potentially dilute 
basic earnings per share in the future but were not included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share 
because they are antidilutive for the period(s) presented. 
 
Post the reporting period end, the Company entered into transactions to issue 1,803,652,968 ordinary shares 
with associated options, which if exercised would involve the issue of a further 913,442,009 ordinary shares which 
will be assessed in the earnings per share calculation in the next accounting year. 

 

 
10.     PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 

 Motor 
vehicles 

 Computer 
equipment 

 Total 

 £  £  £ 

Group      

      

Cost or valuation      

      

At 1 January 2023 12,953  4,120  17,073 
      

Foreign exchange movements 
           

(3,067) 
               

(614) 
            

(3,681) 
      

At 31 December 2023 9,886  3,506  13,392 
      

Additions -                      1,839             1,839 

      

Foreign exchange movements            284                95             379 
      

At 31 December 2024 10,170  5,440  15,610 
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Motor 
vehicles 

Computer 
equipment Total 

 £ £ £ 
 
 
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT    

 
At 1 January 2023  10,282   2,906   13,188  
 
Charge for the year  421   421   842  
 
Foreign exchange movements  (2,448)   (394)  (2,842)  
 
 
At 31 December 2023 

   

 8,255  

   

 2,933  

   

 11,188  
 
Charge for the year  739   591   1,330  
 
Foreign exchange movements  (165)   (178)   (343)  
 
 
At 31 December 2024 

   

 8,829  

   

 3,346  

   

 12,175  
 
 
Net book value    

 
At 31 December 2023  1,631   571   2,202  
 
At 31 December 2024  1,341   2,094   3,435 

 

 
Company 
 

     

 

Computer 
equipment 

 £ 
 
 
 
Cost or valuation  

 
At 1 January 2023  1,524  
 
 
At 31 December 2023 

   

 1,524  
 
 
At 31 December 2024 

   

 1,524  
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Computer 
equipment 

 £ 
 
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT  

 
At 1 January 2023  1,250  
 
Charge for the year  205  
 
 
At 31 December 2023 

   

 1,455  
 
Charge for the year  69  
 
 
At 31 December 2024 

   

 1,524  
 
 
Net book value  

 
At 31 December 2023  69  
 
At 31 December 2024  0  

 

11.     INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
 

        Group 

    

Australia 
Exploration 

Costs 

Australia 
Exploration 

Costs - 
Copper 

Pakistan 
Project 

Costs 
Total 

    £ £ £ £ 

 COST     

 
     

 At 1 January 2023 1,074,240 - 4,529,390 5,603,630 

 
     

 Additions - external 37,754 - 61,806 99,560 

 
     

 Foreign exchange movement (9,111) - (336,191) (345,302) 

 
     

 At 31 December 2023 1,102,883 - 4,255,005 5,357,888 

 
     

 Additions - external 19,814 256,580 64,324 340,718 

 
     

 Foreign exchange movement (18,129)  114,631 96,502 

 
     

 At 31 December 2024 1,104,568 256,580 4,433,960 5,795,108 
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Australia 
Exploration 

Costs 

Australia 
Exploration 

Costs - Copper 
Pakistan Project 

Costs Total 
 £ £ £ £ 
 
ACCUMULATED 
AMORTISATION AND 
IMPAIRMENT     

At 1 January 2023 580,334 - - 580,334 

Impairment charge 18,516 - - 18,516 

Foreign exchange 
movement (17) - - (17) 

     

At 31 December 2023  598,833  -  -   598,833 
     
Impairment charge - -  - 
 
Foreign exchange 
movement  -   -  -   -  

 
At 31 December 2024 

   

 598,833  

   

 -  

   

 -  

   

 598,833  
 
 
Net book value     

 
At 1 January 2023  493,906   -   4,529,390   5,023,296  
 
At 31 December 2023  504,050   -   4,255,005   4,759,055  
 
At 31 December 2024  505,735   256,580   4,433,960   5,196,275  

 
  

The Group’s Australia Exploration costs of £505,735 (2023: £504,050), Australia Exploration – Copper 
costs of £256,580 and Pakistan Project Costs of £4,433,960 (2023: £4,255,005) are currently being carried 
forward at net book value in the financial statements. The Group will need to raise funds to reach financial 
close on all three projects. Financial close involves the raising of finance, potentially both debt and equity 
for the construction and start-up of a future mine and the proposed construction of a power plant. If the 
Group is ultimately unable to raise such finance, some of the assets may require impairment. 
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Company 

 
Australia 

Exploration 
Costs 

Australia 
Exploration 

Costs - Copper 

Pakistan 
Project 

Costs 
Total 

 £ £ £ £ 
     

     

COST     

     

At 1 January 2023 626,458 - 3,352,393 3,978,851 
     

At 31 December 2023 626,458 - 3,352,393 3,978,851 
     

     

Additions - 230,000 - 230,000 

     

At 31 December 2024 626,458 230,000 3,352,393 4,208,851 

 

 

Australia 
Exploration 

Costs 

Australia 
Exploration 

Costs - Copper 

Pakistan 
Project 

Costs Total 
 £ £ £ £ 
 
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION 
AND IMPAIRMENT     

At 1 January 2023 
31 December 2023 and 2024 

   

 313,229  

   

 -  

   

 -  

   

 313,229  
 
Net book value     

 
At 1 January 2023  313,229   -   3,352,393   3,665,662  
 
At 31 December 2023  313,229   -   3,352,393   3,665,662  
 
At 31 December 2024  313,299   230,000   3,352,393   3,895,622  

 

An impairment charge of £nil (2023: £nil) was recognised in the year by the Company. During the 2023 financial 
year, the Directors reviewed the Australia Exploration costs asset and following the receipt of geology reports 
commissioned by the Company which indicated insufficient potential gold levels in the Jundee East tenement, the 
Company determined the recoverable amount of the exploration costs on this project to be zero based on the 
expectation of no cash inflows.  . 
 

The Company’s remaining Australia Exploration costs of £313,299 (2023: £313,229), Australia Exploration – 
Copper costs of £230,000 (2023: £nil) and Pakistan Project Costs of £3,352,393 (2023: £3,352,393) are currently 
being carried forward at net book value in the financial statements. The Group will need to raise funds to reach 
financial close on both projects. Financial close involves the raising of finance, potentially both debt and equity for 
the construction and start-up of a future mine and the proposed construction of a power plant. If the Group is 
ultimately unable to raise such finance, some of the assets may require impairment. 
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12.     INVESTMENTS 

 
Company    

   

Shares in     
group       

undertakings 
£

  

Cost and Net Book Value    

At 1 January 2024  
  

2,898,531 

Disposals - 

At 31 December 2024 2,898,531 

 
The Company's investments at the Statement of Financial Position date in the share capital of 
companies include the following:  
 
Subsidiaries  
 
Sindh Carbon Energy Limited  
Registered office: 44/2, Street B-6, Phase V, Off Khyaban e Shaheen, Defense Housing Authority, 
Karachi, Pakistan.  
Nature of business: Coal exploration and mining. 

 
Class of shares  % holding 

Ordinary shares of Rs 10 each  

100 
(2023:100)

  

 
  2024 2023 

  £ £ 

   

Aggregate capital and reserves    547,450    547,450  

Loss for the year nil 69,829 

 
The subsidiary company was incorporated in Pakistan on 23 January 2007 for the exploration and future 
extraction of coal in Pakistan.  Oracle Power PLC agreed to acquire 80% of the ordinary share capital of 
the company at par, fully paid in cash. 
 
On 14 March 2016 Oracle Power PLC took up a rights issue to acquire a further 9,000,000 ordinary 
shares of the company at par for consideration of £603,141. The acquisition was settled through a 
reduction of the inter-company loan and increased the holding in the subsidiary to 98%. 
 
On 12 March 2018 Oracle Power PLC acquired the remaining 2% of Sindh Carbon Energy Limited. This 
was acquired via a share for share exchange whereby Oracle Power PLC issued 95,652,174 shares in 
exchange for the remaining 199,999 ordinary shares of Sindh Carbon Energy Limited. 
 
The investment in share capital for the 100% holding amounts to £2,867,256 (2023: £2,867,256). 
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12.     INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

Thar Electricity (Private) Limited  
Registered office: PIA Building, 3rd Floor, 49, Blue Area, Fazlul Haq Road, Islamabad, Pakistan  
Nature of business: Energy production  

 
Class of shares  % holding  

Ordinary shares of Rs 10 each  

100 (2023: 
100)
  

 
 

  2024 2023 

  £ £ 

        

Aggregate capital and reserves   (244,099)   (248,292)  

Loss for the year   (5,113)   (31,727)  

 
The subsidiary company was incorporated in Pakistan on 17 June 2015 for the future generation of 
electricity in Pakistan.  Oracle agreed to acquire 100% of the ordinary share capital of the company at 
par, fully paid in cash. 
 
The investment in share capital for the 100% holding amounted to £31,075 (2023: £31,075). 

 
Oracle Gold Limited  
Registered office: Tennyson House, Cambridge Business Park, Cambridge, England, CB4 0WZ 
Nature of business: Administration and financial support 

 
Class of shares  % holding  

Ordinary shares of £1 each  

100 (2023: 
100)
  

 
 

  2024 2023 

  £ £ 
        

Aggregate capital and reserves   100   100  

 
The subsidiary company was incorporated on 29 October 2020 but has not yet commenced trading and 
had no profit or loss for the year (2023: Nil). 
 
The investment in share capital for the 100% holding amounted to £100 (2023 £100). 
 
The Company has guaranteed all outstanding liabilities of the subsidiary company as at 31 December 
2024.  The subsidiary company has taken an exemption from preparing and filing accounts as per the 
provisions of Section 394A, 394C and Section 448A, and 448C of the Companies Act 2006. 
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12.     INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

Oracle Gold Resources Limited  
Registered office: Tennyson House, Cambridge Business Park, Cambridge, England, CB4 0WZ 
Nature of business: Administration and financial support 

 
Class of shares  % holding  

Ordinary shares of £1 each  

100 (2023: 
100)
  

 
 

  2024 2023 

  £ £ 

        

Aggregate capital and reserves   100   100  

 
The subsidiary company was incorporated on 29 October 2020 but has not yet commenced trading and 
had no profit or loss for the year (2023: Nil). 
 
The investment in share capital for the 100% holding amounted to £100 (2023 £100). 
 
The Company has guaranteed all outstanding liabilities of the subsidiary company as at 31 December 
2024.The subsidiary company has taken an exemption from preparing and filling accounts as per  the 
provision of  Section 394A, 394C and Section 448A, and 448C of the Companies Act 2006. 
 
Oracle Gold Pty Limited  
Registered office: Suite 23, 513 Hay Street, Subiaco, WA 6008 
Nature of business: Gold exploration and mining 

 
Class of shares  % holding  

Ordinary shares of AUD $1 each  

100 (2023: 
100)
  

 
 

  2024 2023 

  £ £ 

        

Aggregate capital and reserves   (503,988)   (476,843)  

Loss for the year   (90,860)   (88,831)  

 
The subsidiary company was incorporated in Australia on 16 November 2020 for the exploration and 
potential future extraction of gold. On the same date, Oracle acquired licences to operate two gold projects 
in Western Australia. These projects are managed and operated by the company. The acquisition of the 
projects was satisfied by way of a cash payment of £90,000 by the parent company, Oracle, and the issue 
of 42,857,143 new ordinary shares of 0.1 pence and warrants to potentially subscribe for a further 
42,857,143 Ordinary Shares in Oracle exercisable at a price of 1.1p each. 
 
The investment in share capital for the 100% holding amounted to £0.56 (2023: £0.56). 
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13. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 
 

Company    

   

Shares in 
associate 

undertakings
  

Cost   £  

At 1 January 2023  668,782 

Additions   68,446  

Share of loss of associates using equity method (5,122) 

At 31 December 2023   732,106  

Share of loss of associates using equity method (3,435) 

At 31 December 2024 728,671 

 
The Company's investments at the Statement of Financial Position date in the share capital of associate 
companies include the following: 
 
Associates  
 
Oracle Energy Limited  
Registered office: House No 91, Shahrah-E-Iran, Block 5 Clifton, Karachi, Saddar Town, Karachi South, 
Sindh 
Nature of business: Energy production 

 
 
 

Class of shares  % holding  

Ordinary shares of Rs 10 each  30 (2023:30)  

 
 

  2024 2023 

  £ £ 

        

Aggregate capital and reserves   2,624,537   1,819,876  

Loss for year   (6,763)   (7,820)  

 
The associate company was incorporated in Pakistan on 19 November 2023 for the future generation of 
power.  
 
The investment in share capital for the 30% holding amounted to £724,861 (2023: 30% £726,848). 
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Oracle Energy FZCO Limited  
Registered office: FD-172.0, Floor No. 18, Sheikh Rashid Tower, Dubai World Trade Centre, Dubai, 
United Arab Emirates 
Nature of business: Energy production 

 

Class of shares  % holding  

Ordinary shares of AED 1,000 each  30 (2023: 30)  

 

  2024 2023 

  £ £ 

        

Aggregate capital and reserves   16,491   16,491  

Loss for year   (5,057)   (5,057)  
 

The associate company was incorporated on 5 October 2023. 
 

The investment in share capital for the 30% holding amounted to £6,788 (2023: £6,788). 
 

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group’s material associates is set out below. 
The summarised financial information below represents amounts in associates’ financial statements 
prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards. 

  

Oracle 
Energy 

Ltd  
  

Oracle 
Energy 

Ltd  
  

Oracle 
Energy 

FZCO 
Ltd  

  

Oracle 
Energy 

FZCO 
Ltd  

  2024   2023   2024   2023 

  £   £   £   £ 

        

Current assets  306,067   301,488   2,724   3,377 

Non-current assets  2,356,064   2,097,536   776,403   655,171 

Current liabilities  (37,595)   (18,897)   (757,508)   (642,057) 

 Non-current liabilities (693,876)  (560,252)     
  1,930,660  1,819,875  21,619  16,491 

Equity attributable to owners of the 
associate  

1,351,462   1,273,913   15,133   11,544 

Non-controlling interest  579,198   545,962   6,486   4,947 

         
  1,930,660  1,819,875  21,619  16,491 

(Loss)/profit for the year from 
continuing operations  

(6,624)   (8,071)   4,917   5,057 

 
The associates have no revenue, discontinued operations, or other comprehensive income to disclose.  
(loss) / profit from continuing operations is equivalent to total comprehensive income. 
 

The non-controlling interest shown in the table above comprises the Group's interest in the associated 
undertaking. 
 

There is no significant restriction on the ability of associates to transfer funds to the Group in form of 
cash dividends, or to repay loans or advances made by the Group. 
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14.     LOANS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 
 
 

Group  2024 2023 

  £ £ 

        

Financial assets   -   407,291  

Loans to associate undertakings   387,603          311,733 

   387,603   719,024  

 
The financial asset of £nil (2023: £407,291) represents the cash used to collateralise a performance 
guarantee for US$500,000 issued in favour of the Director General, Coal Mines Development Department 
to cover company obligations under its mining lease. The guarantee was originally valid up to the earliest 
of the date commercial operations begin, three years from the date of issue, or 2 February 2018. This was 
last extended to 31 January 2024. During the year, the Company decided not to renew the bank guarantee 
and this cash balance was returned to the Company. 
 

 

Group  
Loans to associate 
undertakings 

  2024  2023 

  £  
£ 

      

At 1 January 2024 
  

311,733  
   

155,009  

New in year  
  

144,081  
   

210,924  

Impairment  
   

(68,211)  
    

(54,200)  
     

At 31 December 2024 387,603  311,733 

  
   
 

Company  2024 2023 
  £ £ 

        

Loans to group undertakings   2,475,571   2,238,299  

Loans to associate undertakings   336,300   281,196 

Financial assets   -   407,291  

        

   2,811,871   2,926,786  
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Company  

Loans to 
Group 

undertakings 

Loans to 
associate 

undertakings 

  £ £ 

At 1 January 2023 2,035,196 144,952 

New in year 630,840 190,444 

Impairment (396,726) (54,200) 

Exchange differences (31,011)  

        
31 December 2023   2,238,299             281,196 

New in year   726,943   123,315  

Impairment   (439,402)   (68,211)  

Exchange differences   (50,269)                      - 

        

31 December 2024          2,475,571    336,300  

 
 

Company
  2024 2023 

  £ £ 

        

Financial assets
   -   407,291  

 
Included in the loans to Group undertakings shown above, during the period Oracle Power PLC made 
loans to its subsidiaries totalling £nil (2023: £nil) to Sindh Carbon Energy Limited, £61,559 (2023: £67,736) 
to Thar Electricity (Private) Limited and £59,376 (2023: £14,907) to Oracle Gold Pty Limited.   
 
The amounts outstanding at the statement of financial position date were £1,078,588 (2023: £1,078,588) 
due from Sindh Carbon Energy Limited, £647,192 (2023: £585,633) due from Thar Electricity (Private) 
Limited, of which £31,753 is denoted in USD of $42,980 and £644,638 (2023: £585,262) due from Oracle 
Gold Pty Limited. Interest accrues on a daily basis at a rate of 1% over the Bank of England base rate. 
The loans are unsecured and although they are repayable on demand, they are unlikely to be repaid until 
the project becomes successful and the subsidiaries start to generate revenues. The loans were reviewed 
for impairment and an impairment charge of £439,402 (2023: £396,792) was recognised in the year. 
 
The subsidiaries and associate loans are considered recoverable. 
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15.   TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

  Group Group Company Company 
  2024 2023 2024 2023 

  £ £ £ £ 

Current:              

Other receivables   7,751   7,751  7,751 7,751 

VAT   19,435   20,707   16,475   19,415  

Prepayments and accrued income   16,587   18,451   14,616   16,683  

              

   43,773   46,909   38,842   43,849  

 
 
16.      CALLED UP SHARE CAPITAL 
 

  2024 2023 

  £ £ 

        

Allotted, issued and fully paid Ordinary shares of 0.001p      

10,272,823,185 (2023: 4,735,415,387)       3,800,789       3,745,415  

 
The shares issued during the year were as follows: 

Date issued 
Class of 
shares 
allotted 

Number of 
shares 

allotted 

Nominal 
value of 

each share 

Amount paid 
(including 

share premium) 
on each share 

12April 2024  Ordinary  136,986,301 0.001p  0.0219p 

17 May 2024  Ordinary  1,666,666,667 0.001p  0.018p 

12 June 2024 Ordinary 913,242,009 0.001p  0.0219p 

20 November 2024 Ordinary 1,153,846,154 0.001p  0.013p 

18 December 2024 Ordinary  1,666,666,667 0.001p  0.025p 

 
On 4 October 2023, the Company completed a share reorganisation and each ordinary share of 0.1p 
was replaced with a new ordinary share of 0.001p and a deferred share of 0.099 pence.  

 
The number of shares in issue is summarised as follows: 
  2024 2023 

  No. No. 

        

At 1 January   4,735,415,387   3,078,297,740  

Issued during the year   5,537,407,798   1,657,117,647  
        

At 31 December   10,272,823,185   4,735,415,387  

 
At 31 December 2024, the total warrants in issue were 613,544,706 (2023: 113,544,706) comprising 
warrants issued to investors and brokers (see note 23). 
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17.     RESERVES 
 

The following is a description of each of the reserve accounts that comprise equity shareholders' funds: 
 

Share premium 
 

The share premium comprises the excess value recognised from the issue of ordinary shares at par. 
 

Share scheme reserve 
 

Cumulative fair value of warrants charged to the statement of comprehensive income net of transfers to 
the profit and loss reserve on exercised and cancelled/lapsed warrants. 

 
Foreign exchange reserve 

 
Cumulative gains and losses on translating the net assets of overseas operations to the presentation 
currency. 

 
Retained earnings 

 
Retained earnings comprise the Group's cumulative accounting profits and losses since inception. 

 
 
18. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
 

  GROUP GROUP COMPANY COMPANY 

  2024 2023 2024 2023 

  £ £ £ £ 

Current              

Trade payables   98,609   71,282   78,258   56,732  

Other payables   20,515   9,015   20,348   8,855  

Accruals and deferred income   73,064   66,268   61,386   57,411  

              

   192,188   146,565   159,992   122,998  
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19. LEASING AGREEMENTS 
 

Expense and net cash outflow incurred under leasing agreements 
 

Group  2024 2023 

  £ £ 

        

Short term leases   -   9,008  

      

   -   9,008  

      

Company    
Short term leases   -   8,663  

        

   -   8,663  

 
 
20. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

The carrying value of the Group's financial assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date of the year 
under review are categorised as follows: 

 
  2024 2023 

  £ £ 

        

Financial assets - at amortised cost      

Cash and bank balances   619,197   203,526  
Receivables denominated in foreign currency   -   407,291  

      

Financial liabilities - at amortised cost      

Trade and other payables   119,124   80,297  
 

The main purpose of these financial instruments is to finance the Group's operations. The Board 
regularly reviews and agrees policies for managing the level of risk arising from the Group's financial 
instruments as summarised below. 
 
a) Market Risk 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as commodity prices, foreign exchange rates, 
interest rates and equity prices will affect the Group's income or value of its holdings in financial 
instruments. 
 
i) Foreign Exchange Risk 
The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from currency 
exposures. The Group is exposed to currency risk on cash and cash equivalents, loans, receivables and 
payables that are denominated in currencies other than sterling which is the functional currency of the 
Group. 
 
The Group's net exposure to foreign currency risk at the reporting date is as follows: 
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20.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

  2024 2023 
  £ £ 

        

Pakistan Rupees   (15,690)   (4,489)  

US Dollars   128,695   392,696  

Australian Dollars   197   (1,952)  

        

   113,202   386,255  

 
The Directors have reviewed historical exchange rates and consider that a 10 percent weakening of 
sterling against the US Dollar or Australian Dollar would be a reasonable basis for sensitivity analysis.  By 
the same method the Directors consider that a 50% weakening of sterling against the Pakistan Rupee 
would be a reasonable basis for sensitivity analysis.  The Directors reviewed the foreign currency balances 
and modelled the effect of the % change in foreign exchange rates.  A 10% weakening of sterling against 
the US Dollar or Australian Dollar at 31 December 2024 and a 50% weakening against the Pakistan Rupee 
would  reduce net profit before tax by approximately £6,000 (2023: £35,000 increase). 
 
Differences that arise from the translation of these foreign currency cash equivalents and loans to sterling 
at the year-end rates are recognised in other comprehensive income in the year and the cumulative effect 
as a separate component in equity. The Group does not hedge this translation exposure in profits and 
equity. 
 
ii) Interest Rate Risk 
The Group has interest bearing accounts and has earned interest income of £1,772 (2023: £17,186) in the 
year. Given the level of interest income earned in the year, interest rate risk is not considered to be material 
to the Group. 
 
b) Liquidity Risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. 
The Group's policy throughout the year has been to ensure that it has adequate liquidity to meet its 
liabilities when due by careful management of its working capital. 
 
The following tables illustrate the contractual maturity profiles of its financial liabilities, all of which are 
repayable within one year, as at 31 December: 

 
 
 

  2024 2023 

  £ £ 

        

Maturity up to one year:      

Trade and other payables   119,121   80,297  

 
c) Fair Values of Financial Assets and Liabilities 
The carrying value of all financial assets and liabilities in the financial statements approximate their fair 
values. 
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20. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

Loss allowance 
d) Credit Risk 
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial 
loss to the Group. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date to recognised financial assets 
is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for impairment of those assets, as disclosed in the statement 
of financial position and notes to the financial statements. The Group does not hold any collateral. Credit 
risk in relation to cash held with financial institutions is considered low, given the credit rating of these 
institutions.  
 

The Group's principal financial assets are the cash and cash equivalents and taxation receivable as 
recognised in the statement of financial position, and which represent the Group's maximum exposure to 
credit risk in relation to financial assets.  At the year end the Group held £619,197 (2023: £203,526) cash 
and cash equivalents; £nil (2023: £407,291) other financial assets held with financial institutions; and 
£19,356 (2023: £20,805) taxation receivable.  The Group’s financial assets are considered to be of a high 
credit rating. 
 

At the year end, the Company held £604,851 (2023: £192,574) cash and cash equivalents; £nil (2023: 
£407,291) other financial assets held with financial institutions; and £16,475 (2023: £19,415) taxation 
receivable.  These financial assets are considered to be of a high credit rating. 
 

The Company has made unsecured loans to its subsidiaries of £1,078,588 (2023: £1,078,588) to Sindh 
Carbon Energy Limited, £647,192 (2023: £585,633) to Thar Electricity (Private) Limited and £644,638 
(2023: £585,262) to Oracle Gold Pty Limited. During the 2023 financial year, interest previously reported 
in current assets was reclassified against the loans and shown in the balances above, total £nil (2023: 
£240,225).  Although they are repayable on demand, they are unlikely to be repaid until the projects are 
successful and the subsidiaries start to generate revenue. The Company considers the loans are of a lower 
credit rating.  The loans were assessed for impairment and an impairment charge of £439,402 (2023: 
£396,792) was recognised in the year.   
 

The Company has made unsecured loans to its associates of £404,511 (2023: £335,396) to Oracle Energy 
FZCO Limited.  Although the loan is repayable on demand, it is unlikely to be repaid until the projects are 
successful and the associate starts to generate revenue. The Company considers that the loan is of a 
lower credit rating.  The loan was assessed for impairment and an impairment charge of £68,211 (2023: 
£54,200) was recognised in the year. 
 

The Company assessed impairment by considering a range of future interest rates between 1% and 
5.25%, and potential periods until the loans are able to be repaid between 1 and 10 years.  The Directors 
considered the most likely scenario was an interest rate of 3.38% and a 5-year repayment period (2023: 
3.38% and 5 years).  The movement in the loss allowance in the year was an increase of £56,687 from 
£450,926 in 2023 to £507,613 in 2024.  The reason for the increase in the provision was due to the increase 
in the size of the loans and an increase in the Bank of England Base Rate. 
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20. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

  2024 2023 
  £ £ 

        

Gross carrying value   3,319,175   2,970,321  
Opening loss allowance   450,926   393,184  

Movement in allowance for period   507,613   57,742  

        

Closing loss allowance   958,539   450,926  
Assessed interest rate risk   3.38%   3.38%  

Years until cash realised   5   5  

 
Capital Management 
The Company's capital consists wholly of ordinary shares, together with their associated share premium. 
The Board's policy is to preserve a strong capital base in order to maintain investor, creditor and market 
confidence and to safeguard the future development of the business, whilst balancing these objectives 
with the efficient use of capital. 

 
21. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

 
On 3 February 2015, a performance guarantee for US$500,000, secured by a deposit from the Company, 
was issued by a third-party bank in favour of the Director General of the Coal Mines Development 
Department to cover potential obligations under the mining lease. This bank guarantee has been extended 
annually and, during 2024, the Company decided not to renew the bank guarantee. The Directors do not 
believe that any potential obligations under the mining lease will arise. 
 

22. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 
 

During the year, Oracle Power PLC accrued interest of £66,060 (2023: £61,258) in respect of loans totalling 
£1,078,588 (2023: £1,078,588) made to its wholly owned subsidiary Sindh Carbon Energy Limited, 
£37,783 (2023: £31,740) in respect of loans totalling £647,192 (2023: £585,633) made to its wholly owned 
subsidiary Thar Electricity (Private) Limited and £35,263 (2023: £35,263) in respect of loans totalling 
£644,638 (2023: £585,262) made to its wholly owned subsidiary Oracle Gold Pty Limited, and £8,866 
(2023: £19,502) in respect of loans totalling £404,511 (2023: £335,396) to its associated undertaking 
Oracle Energy FZCO Limited. 
 
At the Statement of Financial Position date, the total interest outstanding amounted to £330,995 (2023: 
£264,935) for Sindh Carbon Energy Limited, £91,771 (2023: £53,988) for Thar Electricity (Private) Limited 
and £84,825 (2023: £49,562) for Oracle Gold Pty Limited, and £41,534 (2023: £21,627) for Oracle Energy 
FZCO Limited. The loans due from Sindh Carbon Energy Limited, Thar Electricity (Private) Limited, Oracle 
Gold Pty Limited, and Oracle Energy FZCO Limited were reviewed for impairment and an impairment 
charge of £72,003 (2023: £29,327) was recognised in the year. Total impairment charge to date amounts 
to £439,402 (2023: £396,792). 
 
All intercompany loans accrue interest at the Bank of England Base rate + 1%, all intercompany loans are 
to be settled in cash. 
 
The Company has guaranteed the liabilities of two dormant, wholly owned subsidiaries: Oracle Gold 
Limited and Oracle Gold Resources Limited. 



 

    

ORACLE POWER PLC 
    

 
  

  

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 

 
 

 
 

Page 78 

 
22. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED) 

 
Key management personnel compensation 
 
The Directors and key management personnel of the Group during the year were follows: 
 
Mr M W Steed (Non-Executive Director and Chairman) 
Ms N Memon (Chief Executive Officer) 
Mr D Hutchins (Non-Executive Director) 
Mr N Lee (Company Secretary) 

 
Details of directors’ compensation are disclosed in the Remuneration Report included in the Directors 
Report.  In addition, the Company Secretary, Nicholas Lee, received a salary of £55,000 (2023: £55,000).  
 
Key management personnel equity holdings 
Details of key management personnel beneficial interests in the fully paid ordinary shares of the Company 
are disclosed in the Directors Report. 
 

23.  SHARE BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 
 

The Company has a share warrant programme that entitles the holders to purchase shares in the Company 
with the warrants exercisable at the price determined at the date of granting the warrant. The terms and 
conditions of the grants active in the year are that there are no vesting conditions to be met and all warrants 
are to be settled by the issue of shares. 
 

The number and weighted average exercise prices of share warrants are as follows:      

 

The weighted average contractual life remaining at the year end was 0.5 years (2023: 1.5 years).   
 
 
There is no expense for the year (2023: nil) for services received in respect of equity settled share-based payment 
transactions as the warrants granted during the year were also exercised in the year.  
 
.

  

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 
2024 

Number of 
warrants 2024 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 
2023 

Number of 
warrants 

2023 

     

Outstanding at 1 January  0.09p 113,544,706 -  - 

Expired during the period  - - -  - 

Forfeited during the period  -  - 

Granted during the period  0.032p 1,666,666,667  0.09p 113,544,706  

Exercised during the period 0.025p (1,666,666,667)   

Outstanding at 31 December  0.07p 113,544,706 0.09p 113,544,706 

Exercisable at 31 December  0.07p 113,544,706 0.09p 113,544,706 
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24.  EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 

 
Since the reporting date, the Company has entered into the following reportable transactions. 
 
On 18 February 2025 the Company announced that its joint venture partner - Riversgold Limited 
("Riversgold") - on the Northern Zone Gold Project (“NZ Gold Project”) had exercised its option to acquire 
80% of the NZ Gold Project.  The threshold of spending of at least A$600,000 on the project had been 
met.  The Company will retain a 20% interest in the project. 
 
On 22 April the Company announced that it had raised gross proceeds of £318,600 by way of a placing of 
1,770,000,000 new ordinary shares in the capital of the Company at a price of 0.018 pence per share. 
 

25. NOTES SUPPORTING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW 
 

 

Group 
 
 

     2024 2023 

     £ £ 

    

 

 
Cash at bank available on demand  152,835   28,431  

 

 
Short-term deposits  466,362   175,095  

 

 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS IN THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 
POSITION 

 

   

 619,197  
   

   

 203,526  
   

 

 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS IN THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

   

 619,197  

   

         203,526 

 

 

Company 
 
 

     2024 2023 

     £ £ 

    

 

 
Cash at bank available on demand  138,489   17,479  

 

 
Short-term deposits  466,362   175,095  

 

 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS IN THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 
POSITION 

 

   

 604,851  
   

   

 192,574  
   

    

 

 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS IN THE STATEMENT OF CASH 
FLOWS 

   

 604,851  

   

        192,574  
 

 


